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>>Committee commenced at 9:03

Chairman (Mr. Hickes): Good morning,
everyone. | would like to call the committee
meeting to order, the Standing Committee on
Government Operations and Public Accounts.
We’re here for televised hearing on the 2023-
2024 annual report of the Nunavut Children
and Youth. I would like to ask Ms. Quassa to
open the meeting, please. Ms. Quassa.

>>Prayer

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Quassa. We will
proceed directly into my opening comments.

Good morning. | am pleased to begin by
welcoming everyone to this meeting of the
Legislative Assembly’s Standing Committee on
Oversight of Government Operations and
Public Accounts.

We have convened today on the occasion of the
Standing Committee’s televised hearing on the
2023 -2024 annual report of Nunavut’s
Representative for Children and Youth.

I would first like to introduce my Standing
Committee colleagues:

Bobby Anavilok, Member for Kugluktuk;
Janet Brewster, Member for Igaluit-Sinaa;
Mary Killiktee, Member for Ugqummiut;
Adam Arreak Lightstone, Member for Igaluit-
Manirajak;

Karen Nutarak, Member for Tununig;

Joanna Quassa, Member for Aggu;
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and last but not least, Craig Simailak, Member
for Baker Lake.

Nunavut’s Representative for Children and
Youth is appointed on the recommendation of
the Legislative Assembly. Ms. Bate’s was first
appointed in June 2019 and was reappointed on
May 23, 2024 for another five-year term which
will expire in July of 2029.

I would like to take this opportunity to
congratulate Ms. Bates on being appointed to
her second term of office.

As an independent officer of the House, the
Representative for Children and Youth is
required by law to prepare and submit an
annual report to the Legislative Assembly.

The 2023-2024 annual report of the
Representative for Children and Youth was
tabled in the Legislative Assembly on October
24, 2024.

This week’s televised hearing provides an
opportunity for the representative’s 2023-2024
annual report to be discussed in a public forum.
| anticipate that we will be looking closely at a
number of themes and topics including: the
representative’s analysis of information and
data provided by the government; activities
undertaken by the government to address
previous recommendations made by the
Representative and the Standing Committee, as
well as observations and recommendations
made by the Representative and activities and
initiatives undertaken by her Office in 2023-
2024.

Officials from the Departments of Family
Services, Health, Education, Justice and
Executive and Intergovernmental Affairs as
well as representatives from the Office of the
Coroner are also appearing at this televised
hearing, and | will shortly be inviting the
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witnesses to make their opening statements to
the standing committee.

Before we begin, | would like to address some
housekeeping matters. | ask all members and
witnesses to ensure that their cell phones and
other electronic devices do not disrupt the
proceedings. In order to assist our interpreters
and technical staff, | ask that all members and
witnesses go through the Chair before
speaking. | also ask that all members and
witnesses refrain from the use of acronyms
during these proceedings.

Members of the Standing Committee have been
provided with a number of documents for their
ease of reference during the hearing. For the
benefit of our witnesses and interpreters, | ask
members to be precise when quoting from, or
making reference to, specific documents.

This hearing is being televised live across
Nunavut on community cable stations and the
direct-to-home satellite services of both the
Bell and Shaw networks. It is also being live-
streamed on the Legislative Assembly’s
website. Transcripts of the televised hearing
will be posted on the Legislative Assembly’s
website at a later date.

Under Rule 91(5) of the Rules of the
Legislative Assembly of Nunavut, the
government is required to table a formal written
response to reports of standing committees
within 120 days of their presentation, and |
anticipate that we will be presenting our report
on this televised hearing at the upcoming spring
sitting of the House.

I will now invite the Representative for
Children and Youth to make her opening
statement. Thank you.

Please proceed, Ms. Bates.
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Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and
good morning. With me today is Stephen
Shaddock, Director of Child and Youth
Advocacy Services. | also wish to acknowledge
the officials from the four main child- and
youth-serving departments: the Department of
Education, the Department of Family Services,
the Department of Health, and the Department
of Justice. We work together on a regular basis,
and | am glad that the Standing Committee has
again requested your presence and participation
in these proceedings. Tunngasugit, Bienvenue,
Welcome.

As you all may recall from my last appearance
here a year ago, the Representative for Children
and Youth’s Office is an independent office of
the Legislative Assembly of Nunavut. Our
responsibility is to make sure that the services
provided by the Government of Nunavut are
ethical, equitable, and consistent for children,
youth, and their families.

The 2023-2024 Representative for Children and
Youth annual report was the fifth and final
under my first term as the representative. While
there’s much to discuss, | would be remiss if |
didn’t begin by acknowledging the
contributions of countless individuals across
the departments whose ceaseless work, done
with the best interests of the territory in mind,
provides all Nunavummiut with the services we
rely on. We see you. And thank you.

A lot can happen in five years, from routine
events, like the changing of governments, to the
extraordinary; a global pandemic that altered so
many aspects of our lives. But beyond those
things, or because of them, what actually
happened here in Nunavut? What actually
changed? How? These were the kinds of
questions that my office had when we sat down
at the start of 2024 and began work on this five-
year retrospective.
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The result is an annual report that looks a little
different than it has in the past. We have
expanded the scope of the Status of Young
Nunavummiut section, recollected the data for
the past five years, analyzed it, identified areas
of growing concern, and made
recommendations to address them. Not only did
this fulfil two of the requests made by this
standing committee last year, but it also shed
light on some of the questions we set out to
answer.

First and foremost, it became evident how
much of an impact the pandemic had almost
clear across the board between 2020 and 2022,
which made a lot of analysis difficult. As things
began to return to normal, trends emerged:
school enrollment is up, as is the number of
charges laid with an offence against a young
person. On the other side, the number of
children and youth in the territory has dropped
slightly, as has the number of medical travel
patients who are 19 years of age or younger.
Other things, like the births to mothers under
the age of 15 have stayed the same.

Sometimes, it wasn’t the data itself that was
eye-opening, but rather the absence of it. In one
instance, the records we had received for years,
despite being reported as inaccurate, were
found to be so unreliable that the Department of
Family Services chose to completely exclude
them from their response, revealing issues that
we had not previously realized were so
significant. | do commend the department on
their honesty and integrity.

Looking back at the last half-decade also gave
us the opportunity to review the progress
departments have made on the 15
recommendations stemming from our first
comprehensive systemic review, Our Minds
Matter. The departments agreed to implement
13 of these recommendations, and to our
delight, nine of these have been sufficiently
implemented.
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In addition to this exercise of looking back, my
office continued to move forward during the
23-24 fiscal year.

The Communications and Public Awareness
program’s work on a child rights teaching
guide for kindergarten to grade four students,
which began in 22-23, continued throughout
the fiscal year in partnership with Inhabit
Education. The guide incorporates all of our
child rights resources created to date, including
three books, six video segments, and activities
created by my staff. It was completed this fiscal
year 2024-25, it is available in all four
languages of Nunavut, and it is the first of its
kind in Canada created by a child rights
advocacy office.

Community engagement visits also continued
in 2023-2024, with Representative for Children
and Youth staff spending time in Kimmirut,
Kugaaruk, Taloyoak and Kinngait, delivering
the Raise Your Voice: Self-Advocacy
Workshop to more than 136 young
Nunavummiut.

If a department’s services are not ethical,
equitable, or consistent, or if an individual is
unable to access a service, these issues can be
brought to our office for review. Our staff will
review what happened, or more commonly,
what did not happen. We then collaborate with
those involved — such as the young person,
their family, and the service providers — to find
a solution. These complaints, more than half of
which were raised by departments, become our
individual advocacy cases.

In the 2023-2024 fiscal year, our office handled
84 of these cases. 41 were new and 43 were
carried over from the previous fiscal year. With
over half of our cases being carryover, it is
clear that the trend of increasingly complex
cases is continuing, meaning they take more
time and resources to resolve. To help illustrate
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what this work looks like, we included several
case samples in the annual report that showcase
their breadth and depth.

When a concern is identified that has or could
impact multiple young people and the delivery
of ethical, equitable and consistent services, my
office reviews the concern to determine if it is a
systemic issue. In the 2023-24 fiscal year, we
received 46 systemic referrals, the majority of
which came from our individual advocacy
program.

Part of our systemic work this year included a
comprehensive review of our database. Our
systemic database is a year-over-year
accumulation of all systemic issues identified
by or brought to our attention. Referrals and
issues were recategorized and consolidated into
97 systemic issues, 32 of which are being
monitored and six are actively being reviewed.
A full list of the issues along with their status
can now be found in this report.

As part of our systemic advocacy program, my
office will issue recommendations aimed at
addressing the issues we review. As of the end
of the 2023-2024 fiscal year, there were 42
active recommendations that have been made to
various departments, including those from the
Our Minds Matter report. Additionally, nine
new recommendations were issued to the
Department of Family Services during the
2023-2024 fiscal year, focusing on placement
and permanency planning for children in care.
Unfortunately, no systemic issues were
resolved in this fiscal year.

The work done by the systemic advocacy
program is often challenging, but one particular
issue with the Department of Family Services
that year proved to be especially difficult. After
months of unanswered requests and refusals to
provide us with the necessary information, my
office issued its first ever summons, which
went to the Director of Child and Family
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Services. Our legal counsel then questioned the
Director in November and December of 2023
and then sought additional information as a
result. As of the end of that fiscal year, our
work with Family Services on this review was
still ongoing.

The Reviews of Critical Injuries and Deaths
program came into effect on April 1, 2023. The
purpose of these reviews is not to assign blame
or determine criminal or civil liability; rather,
they aim to identify deficiencies and gaps in
services, standards, procedures, practices, and
legislation.

These reviews are based on critical injury and
death reports, which must be submitted in a
mandatory and timely manner, a requirement
that has been in effect since 2015.
Unfortunately, it has continuously been a
challenge to receive these reports, and the
2023-2024 year was no exception. Despite
repeated requests, the Department of Family
Services failed to submit any reports until late
October, when they sent 350. By the end of the
2023-24 fiscal year, a total of 658 reports were
made, but only 47 actually qualified as critical
injuries.

In early 2024, we began our first review of a
critical injury, focusing on a young person who
was in the permanent care and custody of the
Director of Child and Family Services and
placed in an approved foster home, when they
sustained serious injuries. This review is still
underway and expected to be completed and a
public report tabled by May 2025.

Last year, | sat in this very spot and | said that
the Department of Family Services was in a
crisis. That crisis is still ongoing.

Now, | understand that growth doesn’t happen
overnight, nor do | expect the significant
changes to take place over the course of a
single year, but how much time is appropriate
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to see progress in the right direction? How long
should we remain patient? Having now
embarked on a second five-year term as the
Representative for Children and Youth, these
are the questions I pose to myself, and they
should be the questions you consider as well.

The recent follow-up report from the Auditor
General found that there has been little to no
improvement in services for the protection and
well-being of vulnerable children and their
families.

To hear the Minister of Family Services
respond to that report by saying “progress has
been slow” and “this was a short time frame” is
frankly frustrating. The issues identified in the
2023 report were not new. As | said last year,
the situation that the Department of Family
Services finds themselves in has been years in
the making. It has spanned numerous
governments and administrations. Even before
the first Auditor General report in 2011 there
had already been other publications raising
similar concerns and issuing similar
recommendations dating back to 2009. While |
realize that is all in the past, the work currently
being done by the department to remedy these
issues is either insufficient, misdirected, or
both.

As | pointed out last year, my office believes
that the department’s 2024 framework and
subsequent action plan fails to address the root
causes of these ongoing failures. What is
needed is a comprehensive service delivery
model, which is effectively a roadmap that
clearly outlines all the processes and steps that
should occur from the time of referral to case
closure. This is the foundation of any
responsive child welfare system.

During my last appearance, | discussed the
ongoing child sexual abuse crisis in Nunavut.
Although the issue remains just as urgent as
before, | have observed that efforts to address it
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have seemingly risen in priority over the past
year. A consultant has been hired to assist with
the development of a sexual abuse action plan
and has been in contact with our office. In
addition, the Child Abuse and Neglect
Response Agreement is in the process of a
review.

The work my office does is based on the
problems and issues brought to our attention,
each directly related to the children, youth, and
their families who call this territory home. It is
an absolute honour to be able to do this work,
to be accountable to the Legislative Assembly,
and to serve Nunavummiut, but it is
challenging.

| would be delighted to say that things are
trending in the right direction, that there is a
light at the end of the tunnel, but that’s not the
current reality.

Nevertheless, as | have stated before, I still
believe, even now, that Nunavut has the
potential to become a model for exemplary
public service in Canada. It will take a
tremendous amount of teamwork and, yes,
time, but more importantly, accountability. But
holding someone, something or a department
accountable is tough when ambiguous metrics
like “excellence” and “rigorous adherence” are
used. How can you measure excellence? What
does that actually mean? Accountability begins
by setting real, tangible goals and outcomes and
that needs to start now with an honest dialogue
that will help us all move forward.

So, to this government and the next, | challenge
you to consider that children and youth alive in
2009 when the first recommendations were
made could very well be parents now, with
children of their own who could potentially be
facing the same issues, which for me highlights
that that this work today, and every day, is truly
about the future of this territory. So together,
let’s remain vigilant. Let’s ask for evidence to
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support statements of progress, to expect action
not explanation. The children and youth of this
territory, along with their families, demand it.

| truly hope that what we start today will allow
me to address you five years from now, at the
conclusion of my term, and tell you that things
are getting better and that the light at the end of
the tunnel is shining bright.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Bates. | understand
there’s a couple of departments have opening
comments to provide as well. I’ll start off with
the Department of Family Services, Mr.
Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Good day, Mr. Chair, members of the Standing
Committee, and officials from the Office of the
Representative for Children and Youth.

My name is Jonathan Ellsworth, and | am the
Deputy Minister of the Department of Family
Services. Joining me today is Bernadine
Rogers, Assistant Deputy Minister of Family
Wellness. We are grateful for the opportunity to
appear before you to discuss the 2023-2024
Annual Report of the Representative for
Children and Youth and to provide updates on
the actions our department has taken over the
past year.

We continue to value our working relationship
with the representative’s office. Their role in
advocating for Nunavut’s children and youth
and in holding departments accountable to the
highest standards of care is both necessary and
appreciated. We know that our ability to deliver
services effectively depends not only on strong
internal systems but also on collaboration and
responsiveness to the feedback we receive from
the Representative for Children and Youth, and
this committee. With that in mind, | would like
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to begin by reflecting on the commitments we
made at last year’s televised hearing and the
progress we’ve made in delivering on them.

Mr. Chair, with respect to the development and
implementation of standards of practice, at the
April 2024 hearing, the Department of Family
Services committed to reviewing and updating
its Standards of Practice to improve
consistency, accountability, and service quality
across the territory. This work also aims to
align frontline services more closely with Inuit
Qaujimajatugangit and legislative obligations.

As of April 2025, over 70 individual standards
have been drafted, with 12 already
implemented. Each standard is supported by
tools and forms to help frontline staff translate
expectations into practice.

Mr. Chair, we acknowledge that concerns
around service delivery persist, including
instances of non-compliance with established
standards. In response, we are strengthening
our internal systems to better detect and address
these issues. Through the development of
dedicated quality assurance and training teams,
we are creating mechanisms to identify gaps
and provide targeted support to regional

offices.

This work is taking place alongside the
development of a new Family/Community
Service Delivery Model — an important step in
addressing long-standing issues with our
previous service model. The new model offers
a comprehensive, culturally competent
framework rooted in Inuit traditional
knowledge and modern social work practices. It
is designed not only to improve service
delivery but also to empower families,
strengthen community ties, and promote
intergenerational wellness.

Through programs such as Adoption, Family
Resource Workers, the Interjurisdictional
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Program, Quality Assurance, Training and
Development, and Family Safety Initiatives,
this model supports Inuit families while
respecting and preserving cultural identity,
traditions, and resilience. As we move forward,
the Family/Community Service Delivery Model
will guide future service development and will
be continuously adapted to meet the evolving
needs of Inuit families and communities.

We recognize that meaningful change takes
time. But we remain committed in our resolve
to drive sustainable improvements in child and
family services across Nunavut.

Mr. Chair, reliable data is the backbone of an
accountable system. In response to gaps
identified by the Representative for Children
and Youth and the Auditor General, the
department committed to improving its
information management systems through the
phased roll-out of the Matrix Integrated Case
Management System. Over the past year, we
have made significant strides in how we collect,
manage, and apply child welfare data. Phase
One of the Matrix Integrated Case Management
System has been completed. Phase Two is now
well underway. This phase, Mr. Chair, includes
the migration of legacy data, improvements to
data quality, and a territory-wide retraining
initiative for staff. A revised referral coding
system has also been implemented, enhancing
the accuracy and consistency of data used for
decision-making and quality assurance.

We recently implemented a critical incident
reporting module in Matrix, which has an
established workflow that is a multi-layer
approach to reviews and approvals of critical
incidents. This quality assurance mechanism is
being used to address gaps in practice as well
as highlight inaccuracies in reporting. This new
method to critical incident reporting will close
a gap that the representative has consistently
flagged. The launch of our first comprehensive
Child Protection Referral Report in February
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2025 marked a significant milestone, providing
valuable insights into referral data, providing
timelines, trends in maltreatment types, and
regional variations. Together, these changes are
building a more accountable and responsive
system, one that supports better outcomes for
children and families across Nunavut.

Mr. Chair, we heard clearly from the
representative, and this committee, that the
department needed to strengthen oversight of
children and youth placed in care outside of
Nunavut. In response, we finalized a new out-
of-territory care standard, which was developed
with input from the Representative’s office.
Training on these standards began last May and
continues to roll out across the territory.

We have strengthened our monitoring practices
for out-of-territory care, utilizing this new
standard as the foundation to ensure
interprovincial agreements are in place and
courtesy social workers are assigned for out of-
territory placements. Our department has also
made notable advancements in managing
placements for children and youth both within
and outside the territory. A dedicated team
comprising a lead reviewer, a social worker,
and a nurse was established in October 2024 to
begin facility reviews. To date, this team has
reviewed 15 facilities. The reports from these
reviews have included recommendations for
improvement. While no immediate concerns
were identified, the department is actively
analyzing the review findings and will work
collaboratively with service providers to
address the recommendations and support
ongoing improvements.

Mr. Chair, our work also continues to support
foster families, who are essential partners in
child and family services. As of March 2025,
there are 297 foster placements across the
territory, with 179 children placed with
extended family members and 118 in non-
family foster homes. We are actively working
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to increase recruitment and retention of foster
parents, including developing new training
models — both online and in person — and
providing culturally competent supports and
targeted resources for non-Inuit caregivers
fostering Inuit children.

We’ve also updated per diem rates to reflect
community-specific living costs. Several
communities have moved up in what is called
zone classification, with daily rates now
ranging from $58 to $65. These changes help
ensure foster families are better resourced to
meet children’s needs. We acknowledge that
there is more work to be done, and we are
committed to ensuring that this momentum
continues toward a comprehensive program
that provides support and training for foster
families.

Mr. Chair, another major focus has been
transition planning and supports for youth
aging out of care. We know that the shift into
adulthood can be particularly challenging for
young people who have grown up in care, and
we are committed to strengthening the services
and supports available to them during this
critical time. Over the past year, we have
expanded the use of extended support
agreements available to youth aging out of care.
These agreements help ensure that young adults
have access to housing, financial support, and
services as they move into adulthood.

At the same time, we’re developing clearer and
more consistent transition plans for all children
and youth in care. We are advancing a cross-
departmental effort involving Family Services,
Health, and Justice to develop a whole-of-
government approach to transition planning.
These discussions have focused on improving
coordination of mental health supports, housing
pathways, and justice system considerations for
youth exiting care. Cross-departmental ADM
meetings are ongoing to clarify roles and
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responsibilities and to ensure that services
continue seamlessly as youth enter adulthood.

Mr. Chair, a key area of progress this year has
been the renewal of the Surusinut Ikajuqtigiit,
Child Abuse and Neglect Response Agreement,
commonly known as CANRA. The revised
Agreement, expected to be signed by partners
in June 2025, strengthens interdepartmental
collaboration and clearly outlines
responsibilities for reporting, investigating, and
supporting disclosures of child abuse and
neglect.

This Agreement incorporates Inuit societal
values and was informed by consultations with
the representative, Nunavut Tunngavik
Incorporated, frontline staff, and partner
departments. It includes a new Disclosure
Referral Roadmap, updated joint investigation
protocols, and stronger mechanisms for training
and evaluation. Training modules for service
providers and a comprehensive communication
plan are simultaneously being developed. The
revised agreement is currently moving through
the appropriate approval processes. Once
finalized, the focus will shift to full
implementation, including the prioritization and
rollout of related action items. The Child Abuse
and Neglect Response Agreement committee is
also leading the development of a sexual abuse
action plan; interviews have been conducted
with stakeholders, including the Representative
and Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated, as a first
step toward the development of action items.

To address long-standing gaps in leadership,
the Department of Family Services committed
to realigning the senior management structure
of the Wellness Division. As part of this effort,
five positions were reprofiled to director-level
roles to enhance oversight in key areas such as
statutory compliance, service quality, and
community support. This new structure
centralizes decision-making, reduces regional
inconsistencies, and strengthens accountability
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across the division. By redistributing
responsibilities among specialized directors, the
Department is better positioned to foster
innovation and respond to complex social
challenges. The realignment also expands
capacity for critical areas including adoptions,
foster parent support, family resource
programs, and client relations. These functions
will now be led by the headquarters team,
allowing frontline staff to focus more fully on
protection and prevention work.

In tandem with this realignment, Mr. Chair, we
launched a new onboarding model and updated
core training program for community social
services workers. In response to feedback from
frontline staff, who identified a need for
additional training on Matrix, we developed a
comprehensive program to address those gaps
and improve the effective use of this vital case
management system. We have also introduced
weekly supervisory case review sessions to
strengthen practice supervision and provide
ongoing support to supervisors and managers.
These initiatives are designed to give staff the
guidance and tools they need to succeed in one
of the most complex and critical roles in our
government.

We know that the frontline team experiences
vicarious and other forms of trauma in the work
they do, and we want to ensure we have
resources available. We have engaged
resources to provide one-on-one counselling
sessions with staff, critical incident debriefings,
and monthly well-being check-ins with all staff
within the Family Services Department.

However, Mr. Chair, we recognize that
training, well-being supports, and structure
changes alone are not enough. Recruiting and
retaining staff continues to be a major
challenge — especially in remote and high-need
communities. This is in large part due to
persistent shortages in staff housing and
suitable office space. We have heard clearly
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from our teams on the ground that the lack of
housing is one of the biggest barriers to
maintaining a stable workforce. Challenges also
exist around safe and functional office space. In
many communities, existing offices are
overcrowded, outdated, or lack basic safety
features. This has a direct impact on morale and
makes it harder to retain staff — especially in
high-stress roles like child protection.

In response, Mr. Chair, we have engaged with
Nunavut Housing Corporation, Transportation
and Infrastructure Nunavut, Human Resources,
and Nunavut Arctic College, identifying both
short-, medium-, and long-term solutions to
these issues. These action items will be
embedded in the implementation roadmap for
our strategic plan to ensure momentum
continues and will be reported on through our
progress reports.

Mr. Chair, as a step toward strengthening our
interdepartmental collaboration, we are meeting
with Health, Justice, the Royal Canadian
Mounted Police, Education, and Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs to discuss and
advance shared priorities and reduce gaps in
service. Additional dialogue has occurred with
Health and Justice regarding gaps in services
for vulnerable young adults; we are in the
process, Mr. Chair, of establishing a triage team
comprised of Family Wellness, Health and
Justice’s Office of the Public Guardian, and the
lead of respective ADMs to discuss which
department is best suited to provide support for
clients with varying needs. Long-term solutions
to this gap will likely involve necessary
changes to legislation and the development of
an adult service team.

What’s encouraging is that we are approaching
these issues through cross-departmental
collaboration to identify shared priorities and
track progress on concrete action items.
Ultimately, our ability to deliver consistent,
quality services depend on our capacity to
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support the people delivering them. We remain
committed to reducing systemic barriers to
recruitment and retention and to creating a
working environment that is safe, supportive,
and sustainable for our staff — so they can focus
on what matters most: supporting Nunavut’s
children, youth, and families.

As we have moved forward, collaboration has
been central. We understand that improving
services for children and youth is not the work
of one department alone, Mr. Chair. Through
working alongside our colleagues in Health,
Justice, and Education, we will coordinate care
and share responsibility for young
Nunavummiut.

This includes joint planning on mental health
services for youth, development of a
memorandum of understanding on gender-
based violence initiatives with Justice, and
engagement with the Department of Education
to strengthen reporting and data sharing on
violent incidents in schools.

We are also deepening our partnerships with
Inuit organizations, whose knowledge and
values are essential to designing services that
reflect our communities.

Finally, Mr. Chair, | want to speak to how we
are bringing all this work together. The Family
Wellness llagiitsiarniq Strategic Action Plan
consolidates recommendations from the
Representative for Children and Youth, the
Auditor General of Canada, and our internal
reviews. This plan is grounded in Inuit societal
values and focuses on making sustained,
measurable improvements in how we serve
Nunavummiut.

We are developing a detailed implementation
roadmap that outlines specific actions,
timelines, priorities, and accountability
measures. This builds on work already
underway across the Department and
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government to address root causes and drive
systemic change. We look forward to sharing
the full plan more broadly in the months ahead.

In closing, Mr. Chair, while we acknowledge
that much work remains, we are also proud of
the progress that has been made. The systemic
issues identified in the Representative for
Children and Youth’s 2023-2024 annual report
are serious, and they require sustained effort
across the government organization. We are
taking this responsibility seriously. And while
we are honest about our challenges, we are also
hopeful about the direction we are heading.

We remain deeply committed to transparency,
accountability, and, above all, to the well-being
of Nunavut’s children and youth. We thank the
representative and her team for their continued
collaboration, and we look forward to working
together to strengthen the system that so many
depend on.

Qujannamiik, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Ellsworth. | would
like to move on to the Department of Education
and Deputy Minister Ms. Hainnu to provide
opening comments. Thank you.

Ms. Hainnu (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. 1 would like to thank the Standing
Committee for inviting the Department of
Education to appear today, and for allowing us
to answer questions and speak about our work
supporting children and youth. I would also like
to introduce Charlotte Borg, Director of
Student Achievement, who is accompanying
me today. Qujannamiik.

Mr. Chair, the Department of Education values
the work and advocacy of the Representative
for Children and Youth, and the important
relationship we have with their office.
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The department and the representative’s office
have shared goals of ensuring the success and
wellbeing of young Nunavummiut. With this in
mind, we are always working to strengthen our
relationship, as we enhance and improve our
education system and increase support for
students.

Mr. Chair, when we appeared before this
Committee a year ago, | spoke about the
significant steps the department has taken to
increase mental health supports in schools. I am
pleased to inform the committee that we
continue to offer and expand these services in
our schools. Children and youth have services
and support in mental health, health support
services in all of our schools across the
territory.

Through our child and youth mental health
professionals, all schools have access to tiered
mental health support, including ongoing and
consistent individual support for students who
need it most.

Over the past year, Mr. Chair, the Department
of Education has made significant progress on a
number of key initiatives that support children
and youth, from the newest early years students
to our young adult learners.

As you know, Mr. Chair, just this past month,
we launched our brand new made-in-Nunavut
curriculum for kindergarten to grade 6. This is
a momentous step for our schools and for
students. We believe that providing a
curriculum that reflects the Inuit worldview and
the Nunavut context will provide the best
opportunity for our students to stay in school
and graduate with a quality bilingual education.

We all know that there are a number of ways
we can encourage attendance and provide
support the learning and well-being of our
students, and one of those ways is by ensuring
our students are learning on a full stomach.
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This year, we signed an agreement with the
federal government to secure funding under the
National School Food Program. For the first
time ever, we will have a departmental position
dedicated to school food programming. This
position will help us to enhance school food
programing and as well lobby for more funding
to support student nutrition.

Mr. Chair, the Representative for Children and
Youth has long advocated for increased child-
care spaces in the territory. Like the
representative, we agree that high quality early
childhood education is key to a young child’s
well-being and can set them up for success
going forward. | am pleased to inform the
Committee that with funding through the
Canada Wide Early Learning and Child Care
Agreement, the department has funded the
creation of 181 new child care spaces. We have
also rolled out a wage scale to ensure that those
who care for our most vulnerable are
compensated appropriately.

Mr. Chair, we appreciate the representative’s
continued advocacy for young Nunavummiut
wishing to pursue post-secondary education.
With our Comprehensive Review of the
Financial Assistance for Nunavut Students
program, and the approval of the Post
Secondary Student Support Act in the
Legislative Assembly, we are excited to be
making changes to significantly increase
funding and supports for post secondary
students, including increased funding for
student travel, and students with disabilities.

In the Representative for Children and Youth
2023-24 annual report, we are pleased to see
that individual advocacy cases for the
Department of Education have gone down to
three cases from four cases in 2022-23, nine
cases in 2021-22, and 11 cases in 2020-21. This
steady decrease is promising to see, and
demonstrates the department’s commitment to
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offering a range of varied supports for its
students.

We were also pleased to see that two of the
recommendations for the Department of
Education from the representative’s Our Minds
Matter report were reported as fully
implemented in the 2023-24 annual report. Our
commitment to enhanced mental health
supports and mental health training for school
staff will continue and will be increased in the
years to come. Guided by the important work
of the representative’s office, we look forward
to continuing to enhance and improve our
education system and support our children and
youth in as many ways as possible.

Together, we can create an education system
and learning environment where our children
and youth can succeed and flourish.

Mr. Chair, Ms. Borg and | welcome any
questions the Committee may have and will be
here to respond. Qujannamiik. Thank you.
Merci.

Chairman: Department of Justice, Deputy
Minister Ellsworth has opening comments.
Please proceed.

Ms. Ellsworth: Ullaakkut, Mr. Chair and
Members and Representative for Children and
Youth. It is a pleasure to be here today to speak
to the important relationships between the
Department of Justice and the Representative
for Children and Youth, especially in the
context of the Representative’s 2023-24 annual
report. | am pleased to share information about
the services and supports our department
provides to children and youth in Nunavut.

My name is Christine Ellsworth, and | am the
Deputy Minister of Justice. Joining me today is
the Acting Assistant Deputy Minister of Public
Safety, Stephen Shaddock, and the Chief
Coroner, Michael Foote.
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The Department of Justice places great
importance on its collaboration with the
Representative for Children and Youth and her
office. We are committed to nurturing a
positive partnership by ensuring open and
constructive communication, promptly
addressing requests as they arise, and working
to align our data collection and reporting to
accurately reflect our actions.

Regarding the department’s systemic
operations, we have several programs and
services specifically designed for children and
youth.

The Department of Justice’s Victim Services
provides support to child and youth victims of
crime throughout all stages of the criminal
justice process, helping them access essential
available resources such as counselling and
mental health services. Additionally, they work
closely with the Umingmak Child and Youth
Advocacy Centre and partners to ensure that
children and youth receive wraparound care in
cases of sexual abuse.

When children and youth testify in court, the
Department of Justice collaborates with a
network of support services — including Victim
Services, Community Justice Workers, and
Court Services, and external partners such as
the RCMP and Crown Prosecutors — to provide
them with support and guidance. To help
minimize trauma, we separate spaces and
technology to shield children and youth while
giving their testimony.

For youth who have committed a crime, the
Department of Justice remains dedicated to
offering alternatives to the formal justice
system that focus on addressing the underlying
causes of their criminal behaviour in a
culturally sensitive manner. Community justice
committees play an important role by using
restorative justice practices to heal relationships
and repair the harm caused by the youth’s
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actions. These committees also connect youth
with available programs and services, such as
elder counselling, mental health programming,
and traditional Inuit skills programing, to aid
their rehabilitation within the community. The
Therapeutic Justice Program, currently
available in Arviat and Cambridge Bay,
provides elder counselling, traditional
toolmaking, sewing and survival skills, and on-
the-land activities to enhance self-esteem and
identity. It offers an alternative path to
rehabilitation while promoting positive, healthy
choices. The department is currently exploring
the expansion of this program to the
Qikigtaaluk region.

For youth who are held on remand or sentenced
into custody in relation to crime, the
Department of Justice operates the
Isumagsunngittukkuvik Youth Facility in
Igaluit. The facility offers Inuit cultural
programming, physical activity, community
services, and educational opportunities.

On the policing front, the RCMP’s Special
Investigative Team continues to perform a
critical function in investigating crimes
involving sexual violence against children and
youth. Additionally, the RCMP is actively
participating in various community initiatives
that encourage children and youth to make
healthy choices, examples that would include a
judo program, coaching sports, holding gym
training sessions, school engagements, and
donations of hockey equipment.

The Department of Justice is dedicated to
supporting crime prevention initiatives for
children and youth throughout the territory.
These initiatives, led by our staff and local
community groups, strive to enhance
community engagement and promote positive
outcomes for our young people.

During the reporting period, examples of these
programs included bullying awareness,

SIAALLAPPDJCCDSe CdN<thsb
DcsdybrLdegt Lspegb

Acto<SocnibdS Acn Lo Cbda *L¢
PLLSDAN T

AFLDC ALLADSC DobbL aa A%/l D>
CAbd<

ADcSdyPPLE DeNCHILNcSo ™M ob
2023-24 <SGJCLC

Dobbc<dnyD>PLYoC Adda. <*MPNNILYSC
ADZ R C >

AALIC AbSNSNDYQ D0 € <L> AlLcnosde

ACHLIN®CD>RDC Ao <A\C

A®ba AL®N*N oC

b/ St Ly M APeNC>o<%INe
ACtLESD>ND>REDC

q5GJoC UMt of,

LcCC>oON ALLAOT AcniReDc
PLLSDANPYC

Q0L o, on><>JC
AD/R M SoSaCNea®
Ac®o<PNP>Yo <At AbY®AATSTC APPS.0¢
LbdD0%>

Sb.oDA*Q N A¥aSoclLtNa. DRUS,
NP e>JC

Ac*o<PNP>L*a®DIo Lo

Ao <SAD>HC®Ia APIC

LbdDA“ > biYoSbeN<P*a SdoNe

AP <J%a Sd 5.

ASPRDBC®, [N >b s DRY 5 D™LANNS UL
JIAICP>o%®Ddo ¢
bNLAGEWUA™Q D¢ JA®INENSH®<C. Sdy*al™.

Ab/QPCSe (ONANJO): Sdy*al™, M HAA® o,
Lebennbde CAL LDAPNShSedST <% FovC
P, MY ADSSDC bI?NdnE.

ADSDEC: D¢ gl AbYRDCSe,

APYRPC® A PPN 5, SIAL >, Do
CRRTCCAN® DSHD>PbSaio L AL
ACSBNM<g AL g Lo nabde
PLLSPDANLD>YS 5 oCStb_oC LbdbD o o,
ADLILP 50 AD™M g PLLIAN>S 2023-
24-1¢ QSGJCLE DadbDI/nb*L.oC. Sdhd >,

26




prevention services, sewing, beading, and
baking programs, sports and dance events, elder
and youth game nights, and an “Amazing
Race” events.

While the initiatives I’ve described show
continuing progress in supporting children and
youth, we recognize that there is still work to
be done. The Department of Justice is
committed to adapt and strengthen our efforts
by incorporating feedback from the
Representative for Children and Youth, and
other stakeholders and partners. The
Department of Justice looks forward to
deepening this collaboration to better meet the
needs of every child and youth in Nunavut.

This concludes my opening comments. We
welcome any questions from the committee.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Ellsworth. Just
before | open the floor to general comments,
people may notice there are a couple of in the
seats. | was informed due to some airline flights
not making it we have a couple of witnesses
that are not able to be here. As well,
unfortunately, the premier rescheduled a
cabinet meeting to coincide with the
proceeding, so unfortunately a representative
from Executive and Intergovernmental Affairs
is not able to be with us here this morning.
Hopefully later in the proceedings. We have a
number of questions on the government
approach to the Department of Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs. General comments.
Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. As today is
election day | hope that everyone has made it to
the advanced polls. Unfortunately I did not, and
I will be maybe sneaking out for a few minutes
at some point today.

| would just like to begin by recapping the
message that | provided last year. We will be
discussing some very sensitive issues, as some
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of the officials have already mentioned, issues
such as child sexual abuse, so | want to provide
a trigger warning for those members of the
public that are viewing proceedings today.

We will be having some very difficult and
tough discussions over the next two days, and |
just want to reiterate again, | really hope that no
one will be taking any of those questions
personally, as we do really appreciate the
efforts that departments provide through their
services, and more importantly we very much
appreciate the front line workers that provide
those services as well. So we will be getting
into a lot of the same topics and questions that
we got into last year, such as teen pregnancies,
and | would like to thank the Department of
Health for providing some information, but one
shocking figure is seeing children as young as
12 becoming pregnant.

This year, of course, we will most likely be
getting into the critical injury and death
reviews, but also last year there was a lot of
emphasis placed on out-of-territory care and the
repatriation of Nunavut’s potentially lost
children over the last 25 years.

But one new issue that | would like to touch
upon today is the amount of youth that are
aging into income support. This is an issue that
| have been following over the last year, and on
average, Nunavut has around 650 youth
becoming adults, turning 18, and one issue that
is commonly known is that with our limited
economy and educational attainment a
significant amount of our population is relying
upon income support and | think that figure is
somewhere around one-third of the population.
But one issue that people are not very familiar
with is the amount of our youth becoming
adults aging into income support is somewhere
around the 40 per cent range. So that is an
important topic that | would really like to focus
on here today as well.
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Again | want to thank everybody for coming
here and representing your departments over
these difficult discussions that we will be
having, and | just wanted to thank you all
again. Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. General comments to
the opening comments. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
Welcome, everybody. Today is also the day of
mourning, which serves as a solemn reminder
of lives lost or forever changed due to
workplace tragedies and | think many of us are
concerned and impacted by the tragedy that
took place in Vancouver, just yesterday. I just
want to say that my thoughts and prayers, it
sounds silly, but I am thinking about all of
those who are impacted by yesterday’s tragedy
and of course by any workplace tragedy.

So, thank you everyone for being here. There
are many issues that we are going to discuss,
and what | hope that we are able to continue to
do is to create opportunities to make
connections and to not only just connect people
but connect issues and subjects, and through
those connections to help to foster the ability to
make substantive changes that have an impact
on the lives of Nunavummiut. I was happy to
hear about the development of a sexual abuse
action plan. This crisis has been first noted in
2009, yet in even earlier than that in 2007 and
2008 the results came out of the Inuit health
survey that indicate that had in Nunavut 52 per
cent of women and 22 per cent of men had
experienced severe childhood sexual abuse.
And when we consider the fact as well that the
first call to say that suicide is a crisis in
Nunavut came | think in 2015, and there have
been subsequent, and that came from the Chief
Coroner as a result of an inquiry. And I looked
through the reports of the Chief Coroner while |
was looking for another report that wasn’t there
yet, and | was really shocked at how many of
those reports reported to suicide and suicidal
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ideation. And what we know is that there is a
direct correlation between childhood abuse and
suicide in youth, in adults, and that there is a
correlation between abuse and ongoing crisis in
a person’s life. So that impacts us as employers.
It impacts us as family members.

When being in crisis feels normal or becomes
normal in childhood, then the truth is and it’s
undeniable that we create crisis in our own
lives as we grow older because that feels
normal. | know this because that was part of my
cycle, which | broke, and I am here today to
always remember that and remember that it is
possible to break that cycle.

| am also very happy to hear about the launch
of the first comprehensive child protection
referral report which occurred in February
2025. | have been very concerned about the
lack of data, because we know that when we
have data that data tells us a story. And when
we hear a story, we can add to it and make
changes to it. So I look forward to having
discussions on that and whether or not the data
that was produced is actually a fulsome story or
whether it needs to be added to.

I’ll stop there, Mr. Chair, but again, welcome
everybody. I’m looking forward to the next
couple of days, and I also echo the truth that
some of this is going to be, some of these
conversations are going to be very difficult and
some of us know each other personally so it can
be a little bit harder to go down a path where
somebody might feel uncomfortable, and for
that | don’t apologize. It’s what we are here to
do. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you Ms. Brewster. Any
other general comments to opening comments?
Seeing none, | will proceed to my list of names
for questions. Ms. Brewster.
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Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. | would
just like to, I’m just going to come, as they say,
like a bat out of hell.

Ms. Bates, in your opening messages on pages
8 and 9 in your 2023-2024 annual report you
discuss the child sexual abuse in some detail,
and you state on page 8:

“l can confirm that child sexual abuse in
Nunavut continues to be a crisis, a crisis that
has remained knowingly unaddressed.”

Is it your opinion that the government has
knowingly ignored its duty to Nunavut’s
children when it comes to cases of sexual
abuse? Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and |
thank the member fort question. | would say
that’s a strong statement, do | feel that the
government has ignored. | think that | would
say, as everyone has indicated, child sexual
abuse is a very difficult topic, and it is difficult
to speak about. And one of the reasons that
child sexual abuse typically is allowed to
continue is because of silence. And | think that
because it’s difficult to talk about, | think that
the government has not necessarily ignored it,
but I think it’s a topic, it’s difficult, how do you
tackle it, how do you deal with it. I think that
that doesn’t excuse the fact that we haven’t
brought it to the forefront and said hey, here’s a
problem, here’s a crisis and we need to deal
with it. I think the how is probably the issue
that has probably caused the government some
difficulty, because it’s not an easy topic. It’s
not an easy situation, because child sexual
abuse occurs in a situation of silence, and that
is difficult to break through of.

| would say that it is incredibly encouraging
that over the last five years we have seen, we’re
actually talking about it much more openly, and
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that it’s now there’s an action plan starting to
formulate. And I think that that is a step in the
right direction.

| would also say to this is that the lack of data,
so for example, and I’ve raised this many times,
is one of the places that you will get data on
child sexual abuse so you can understand the
scope and magnitude of it is directly from the
Department of Family Services. So they have
not been able to accurately and consistently
report on referrals to their department. And that
is typically where you would see a lot of the
child sexual abuse, you’re hoping to see a high
number — not hoping to see, but that’s where
you would see the statistical information about
incidents. And the fact that that hasn’t been a
reportable statistic I think is also part of the
issue why it has not been addressed. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and
thank you for that. I’m hearing the lack of data
or consistent data is one of the issues, but I’m
just wondering what more evidence do you
have to show that the government has maybe
deliberately not addressed the issue of child
sexual abuse. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. | thank
the member for the question. In terms of
evidence that the child sexual abuse crisis has
not been addressed, | can tell you that based on
the numerous individual advocacy files that my
office has reviewed, we often see evidence of
child sexual abuse that has gone uninvestigated,
unaddressed, in terms of there hasn’t been a
proper investigation; that young person has
remained in an unprotected situation, has
remained in a risk situation. Also additionally
to that what I’ve seen is a disturbing trend. As
my office has been looking at cases about it,
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it’s something that has kind of come to my
attention that young mothers are having
children. I’m seeing, we see child protection
cases where we’re examining or reviewing the
situation of young people who may or may not
be in the care and custody of the director.

And what we’re seeing is that when I look at
the parents, the information on the parents, and
| date back to when they had their children or
how old they currently are, they are quite
young, in many instances, which leads me often
to believe that those young people, that young
woman has experienced child sexual abuse,
sexual assault as a young person. In fact, |
recently have seen more than one case where
young people who are parents who also fall
under the criteria of a child who is in need of
protection are also a parent. So they are a
parent who is a child in need of protection, and
then they are having children, and their children
are now in need of protection.

So again, when you don’t have that data, that’s
our office reviewing those files and looking at
them, so we have that data and we, again it’s a
snapshot, so you need to be careful not to
expand that out, but again that’s evidence to me
that this is kind of like it’s a generational issue
because you have young people, and I’ve seen
it again when | look back through files, we
continue to see that it has happened repeatedly
over time for that parent and it moves on to the
next set of children. So again | would say that’s
evidence to suggest that this is an issue that has
gone unaddressed. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Given
that lack of data, how else can you confirm that
child sexual abuse in Nunavut is a crisis?
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Bates.
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Ms. Bates: Thank you for that question. The
other evidence that you can look to would be
charges. You can look at the child sex offender
rates. Registered sex offender rates are quite
high, which suggests that keeping in mind that
the number of child sexual abuse cases that
actually go to charge and then to conviction
which then leads to the registration is very low.
That’s statistically known. I believe it’s
estimated less than 10 per cent of cases of child
abuse actually get report to do authorities, and
I’ve spoken fairly frequently about this. So the
fact that you have a high number of registered
sex offenders in the territory tells me that you
need to multiply that number to really get an
understanding, again, whatever the magnitude
is of how much sexual abuse is actually
occurring. But I would say that is another area
that you can look at.

Also charges, offences, charges against people
committing offences against young people.
You’ll see that this year we’ve asked for
breakdown of what is the nature of charges,
because that number of offences against young
people has gone up significantly. And so this
year we have asked for that information to
break down what actually those charges are. So
that may be another source of information that
we can utilize. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. There’s
so much to unpack here. I’m going to try to
stay focused and just ask in the opening
message of your 2023-2024 annual report,
again you stated that the child sexual abuse
crisis in Nunavut has remained knowingly
unaddressed. You just spoke to the percentage
of cases that actually go through the system,
and you know, this is a very strong accusation,
which is, if true, could be considered a criminal
act on the part of the government. I’m
wondering, have you approached such legal
authorities as the Royal Canadian Mounted
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Police to file a report about this? Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you for the question, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you to the member. | have
had discussions with, | recently had a meeting
with the head of the RCMP. It was not in

relation to holding anyone accountable or filing

a formal complaint. What the nature of the
meeting was is for me to raise concerns
regarding the lack of investigations, joint
investigations into child abuse in general, and
specifically into child sexual abuse. | held that
meeting attended a meeting | would say
sometimes in the early summer of this past
year.

In terms of proceeding, again, who do you hold

accountable? There have been many
governments. There have been many
administrations that have, over the years, and
really is it about holding people accountable at
this point in time? Or is it about addressing the
issue? And I guess that’s where | would say to
you that yes, | am the watchdog for children,
youth and their families, and I take that
responsibility very seriously.

In this instance what | would say to you is that
where does the accountability lie, where does
the liability lie, if you will. | would say to you
that I would much rather see the focus on let’s
address this, let’s deal with it than let’s try to
point fingers and figure out who it is to blame
for where we are today. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. | think

it’s really important to have that discussion and
to consider all of the potential actions and steps

to be taken. So | appreciate your response to
that.
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I’1l just go to either Education, Family
Services, Health or Justice, whoever decides
they would like to answer this question. Again,
on page 8 of her 2023-2024 annual report the
Representative for Children and Youth states
that the crisis of child sexual abuse in Nunavut
has remained knowingly unaddressed. Do you
agree with this statement, and can you explain
why or why not. I’ll roll the dice and see who
answers first. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Brewster. | think
I’1l start off with the Department of Family
Services, but | think that’s a question that needs
to be responded from all of the departments that
are here. Mr. Ellsworth, start off please.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Mr.
Chair, 1 would not necessarily disagree or agree
with the statement from the representative. We
know that the systems that have been in place
historically across the spectrum of service
delivery have not achieved a status that would
see us positioned to address this meaningfully,
and so, for example, Mr. Chair, in my
respectful submission, in order to have a system
that is responsive to these very serious matters,
it requires a system that’s fully capable of
providing services starting with not only Child
and Family Services, the referral system, the
investigative process, the RCMP fully capable
of undertaking these of investigations to ensure
that the evidence necessary to secure a
conviction is procured. The ability of the Public
Prosecution Service of Canada to properly
prosecute these matters. The capacity of the
court to handle the matters within a time frame
that is sort of, there is case law that supports if
you don’t prosecute within a certain amount of
time that the case could be dismissed for
various reasons.

And so | would say that there has been a lot of
work done by the Government of Nunavut to
address these matters, but perhaps not in a way
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that’s official or in a way that comes out and
says you know, this is a major issue, we’re
dealing with it. I think what has happened
historically is that different organizations have
Department of Health with it in the way that
they can or are capable every doing it. What |
would say in response, however, is that this
government has taken notice of the issue.
We’ve committed to addressing it through a
sexual abuse action plan that has parties from
the RCMP, Health, Education, the Arctic
Children and Youth foundation through the
Sivusinut Inuuqatigiit framework and that we
attend to address it.

| would also note, Mr. Chair, that this is
something that the government needs to do
with community. There is knowledge that
needs to be shared. There’s folks that don’t see
anything wrong with people undertaking these
activities that, in our view, is very wrong. And
so | believe there’s a very big educational
component that takes the community to
understand the pieces around what is right and
when is wrong.

The idea of a 12-year-old becoming pregnant is
significantly problematic, Mr. Chair, and |
think that boils down to having all of these
pieces in place, having the capacity to address
them but also the educational piece is probably
of paramount importance to ensure that young
people and adults alike are aware that these
activities, although you don’t see anything
wrong with them, they are wrong, they are
illegal. And we need to raise that awareness as
a collective and we need to address through our
sexual abuse action plan. Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

Chairman: I’ll go to Department of Health,
Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chair. (interpretation ends) Ullaakuut to all this
morning. It’s not an easy question to answer,
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because it is very multifaceted and complex.

It’s important to understand that there are many

social determinant of health factors, as well as
the legacy of residential school and
colonization that are a significant part where
there are harm to children and families. | think
what we’re all committed to, and where we’re
seeing improvements, is that we’re seeing

children and families reporting and that tells me

we’re improving some of the cultural safety
and trust across those systems, which is really
important. Being able to talk about it is one of
the first steps in being able to address child
sexual abuse.

From the Health perspective, you heard my
colleague talk about the Sexual Abuse Action
Plan, which is really important, that
interdepartmental collaboration, but also our
relationship in collaboration outside of just the
government but at that local and community
and agency level. Some of the things that we
are seeing that is important, that’s improving
what Health does is really around assessment,
treatment, and then some of the important
supports to children when they have been
harmed.

Part of that is around the sexual assault nurse
examiner training. That has been something
that we’ve really focused on in making sure
that our nurses are registered in that program,
that they take the training. We currently have
just over 104 nurses that are registered, and in

April, 49 nurses completed that training, which

is really important.

Increasing pediatrics is really important, so the
pediatric services that are provided across the

territory as well as the pediatric psychiatry that
Health now offers in territory and virtual. Many
of those virtual programs that are being offered.

And also our funding to the Umingmak Centre,
which is a centre that really is meant to provide

supports and forensic sexual assault
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examinations for children where there is
suspected harm. And then of course the
reporting, making sure that everybody that
works with within our system knows what their
responsibility and accountability for reporting a
suspected or known child abuse or neglect.
Qujannamiik.

Chairman: Thank you. Department of
Education. Ms. Hainnu.

Ms. Hainnu: Thank you, Chair. | thank the
member for the question. Child abuse in
Nunavut is so broad. It can be comments. It can
be physical. It can be, it’s so broad. And what
the Department of Education — I’m speaking
for the Department of Education — what we can
do is so limited. We can report a suspected
sexual abuse; we can report disclosures. We
have the duty to report. And then once that’s
done we have referred them to the departments,
Royal Canadian Mounted Police, and that’s the
extent of our responsibility. That being said,
additional measures have been created. Mental
health services in schools have expanded to
every school in the territory.

But | would like to answer your question, is it
going unaddressed? | think it’s too broad of a
statement. | think with every effort and with
every good intention there is effort made. What
we’re not doing is having four departments get
together and keep them an open file. It’s over
and above our scope, because of privacy issues,
but maybe that’s something that we need to
start looking at, is through the action plan of the
child abuse strategy in Nunavut.

But I do believe that to the very best of our
staff at the school level, the response is as
reports and disclosures. They are reported.
There is referrals to mental health services.
There is school support through Ilinniavimmi

of our reach. And so how we work with
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departments, we do need to improve. | hope
that answers the question. Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Department of Justice, Ms.
Ellsworth.

Ms. Ellsworth: Qujannamiik. Thank you very
much, Mr. Chair. Abuse of children and
vulnerable persons in Nunavut is a very serious
concern for the Government of Nunavut and
the RCMP, and | would like to echo what my
colleagues say just this morning.

I’m just going to specialize this in the RCMP’s
perspective, that the RCMP in 2018 created a
specialized investigative team that consists of
four RCMP officers that specifically investigate
sexual assault cases. The specialized
investigative team was created to provide
support and expertise on sexual crime
investigation involving vulnerable persons
across Nunavut.

The specialized investigation team is comprised
of RCMP members and specialized child
intervening and working with vulnerable
people. The specialized investigation team
continues to collaborate with the Government
of Nunavut, Family Wellness, Child Services
on investigating and prioritizing the safety and
protection of children in Nunavut.

| just wanted to say out there sort of what the
RCMP does when a complaint comes in. So
upon the receipt of a complaint of an incident
of child sexual abuse, an investigator from the
specialized investigative team is assigned to
review the information and liaise with the Child
and Family Services to ensure that a plan is in
place to ensure safety of the child. Once child
safety has been ensured, investigational
planning occurs to determine what avenues of
investigation should be pursued, including but
not limited to interviews, locating and securing
forensic DNA evidence, and executing search
warrants.
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Investigators from both specialized
investigative team work closely with the staff at
the Umingmak Centre to ensure that if a sexual
assault examination Kit, is required it is
conducted at the centre with a pediatrician in a
victim-centred approach. Arrangements are also
made to interview the child at the Umingmak
Centre interview room. Once all avenues of
investigation have been pursued and
information and evidence collected, a decision
is made whether or not there is sufficient
evidence to effect an arrest. Investigators from
the specialized investigative team work closely
with the Public Prosecution Service of Canada
to rely on information regarding the
investigation to ensure that the Crown counsel
is aware of the investigation and prepared for
court proceedings.

Throughout the course of the investigation,
every effort is made to remain in contact with
the child’s primary caregiver to ensure that they
are receiving adequate victim support services
and that they are kept abreast of their
development of the investigation.

So with that said, | just want to say that there
are services out there that we do provide, but
there’s always room for improvement. Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Ellsworth, and
again, this would have been a nice time to get
in the perspective from Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs. When we send out
witness requests to these types of proceedings,
those aren’t meant to be taken lightly. With that
I’m going to recognize the clock and we’ll take
a 15-minute break before we go back to Ms.
Brewster for her next question. Thank you.

>>Committee recessed at 10:34 and resumed
at 10:53
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Chairman: Thank you. I would like to call the
committee meeting back to order. Where we
left off Ms. Brewster had a line of questioning
going. Please continue, Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. |
appreciate your intervention about the lack of
participation of the office of the Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs because | do have a
number of follow-up questions related to this
line of questioning for Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs, and | hope that |
will be given the opportunity to come back to
those questions when the representative does
attend our hearing.

We heard just now from the Government of
Nunavut representatives about what they are
doing to address child sexual abuse. However,
not one of those representatives spoke to the
statement that Ms. Bates made, that perhaps
only 10 per cent of children or people are
actually reporting the child’s sexual abuse and
moving it forward for action.

| wonder, then, if we can go back to Ms. Bates
to speak to us more about why this is really
important in her statement that this crisis is
going knowingly unaddressed. We know that
this is referring back to what | said earlier about
a follow-back study in 2007-2008 indicated that
adult women and adult men, over half of adult
women in Nunavut and over 20 per cent of
adult Inuit men reported being sexually abused
in their childhood, severely sexually abused, is
actually what the term told us.

Having heard all of these really great and
important interventions and ways of acting on
the abuse that is being indicated as happening,
and | know it takes so much. I have so much
respect for children and families who do come
forward about sexual abuse, specifically,
because we know that often people who are
abusing children are members of their family,
trusted people around them, and it takes so
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much encourage to be able to disclose that
abuse. And that also speaks to the low number
of children and families that come forward and
the deputy minister of the Department of
Family Services also indicated that there’s so
much education to be done to educate families
and parents to encourage children to come
forward. There is so much work to be done, and
| hope there’s work being done to address that.
But | would just like to go back to Ms. Bates to
speak to that again. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, thank
you for the opportunity to address this. What |
would like to say is that child sexual abuse, as |
stated before, is a topic that causes people a
great deal of upset, and you’re absolutely right
that it takes a great deal of encourage to come
forward with a disclosure, especially in a
family system. On top of that, and at the break |
was speaking with some other of the
department representatives, and | think that one
of the big factors here as well is that when a
young person comes forward and says I’ve
been sexually abused, hopefully that is
investigated properly, and perhaps that young
person can’t be continue residing in that home.
However we have a problem, because there
may not be another home for that young person
to go to.

So you have a multitude of factors that have
come into play here, where you have housing
issues, so how do you separate that young
person from the potential abuser. You have to
understand that there’s also guilt that goes
along with if, my family, if I disclose this
there’s going to be repercussions from that.

In addition to that, I would also say, and | feel
that this often gets lost, is often, and | hate the
word perpetrator, but people who commit child
sexual abuse usually are victims themselves so
it’s a generational or historical issues that has
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occurred, and | feel that often that piece of it
gets missing. Because it’s easy, again, in
situations when we’re faced with things that are
uncomfortable or they make us angry, we want
someone to blame and we want someone to be
accountable. And those are all good things, but
| also sometimes and certainly in child sexual
abuse and child abuse you need to understand
that often the person who is committing the
abuse is often a victim themselves who hasn’t
had the treatment or hasn’t had the supports
that they needed. Maybe they disclosed and no
one responded. Maybe they weren’t kept safe.

| think that again it’s how we come at the issue
of abuse in general, child sexual abuse
particularly, is really important that it’s a
coordinated response. And there needs to be
clear understanding that it can’t be just the
child. 1t’s the family. And there are issues that
are coming that really make it difficult to
respond because of the housing issue: Where is
this young person, how do you keep people
safe if they have to live in the same household?
So there’s always these complicating factors.

| can say, too, | recently, another disturbing
trend that | have seen is the diagnosis, if you
will, of post-traumatic stress disorder. | see it in
a number of parents, as I’m reading through
cases where abuse is involved. And again |
always query to myself, and often these parents
aren’t accessing mental health services, because
it’s triggering for them to go to the health
centre or those types of things. And | think,
again, we need to look at what does treatment
looks like, as well, as because we don’t want to
be retraumatizing people.

It’s such a complicated situation and there are
so many factors that really make it difficult to
respond to it. And that’s why it’s so important
this we look at all aspects. You say this person
has committed this, they get charged;
potentially they might be out of the home, but
maybe they can’t be, because there’s not
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enough grounds for a charge, but that doesn’t
mean that child is not in need protection.
Again, where does the child go? How do we
protect children? How do we protect parents?
How do we help support a family when they
are in this type of a crisis? Because it is a crisis
when this occurs, right? So | hope that answers
your question. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. The
Deputy Minister of Health indicated the
Umingmak Centre as part of the plan of care
when it comes to addressing child sexual abuse
specifically, and | wonder if we can hear how
families and parents are supported through this
process. Post-traumatic stress disorder,
complex post-traumatic stress disorder is an
ongoing issue for a number of families related,
as the deputy stated, to intergenerational
trauma. If we could hear more about what
actions are being taken to support not just the
child but the wraparound support for families.
And especially when it comes to protecting
other children and family members who are
impacted by child sexual abuse when a child is
brave enough to come forward. Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt: Qujannamiik. Thank you to the
member for the question. The Umingmak
Centre is a very important part or tool in the
toolbox in relation to child sexual abuse or
other forms of abuse or neglect for children. It
is an integrated program or service that is also
funded by or supported by other departments
than just Health within the government. Not
only do they do the forensic sexual assault
examinations, but they are a fully functioning
clinic for abuse and neglect. They can provide
things like onsite pregnancy testing and
sexually transmitted infection testing. They
have social services as well as medical services.
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We have a physician that we fund as a
pediatrician to work at the Umingmak Centre.
They have liaisons or elders that also work with
the children and families. They are followed on
along a continuum, from what | understand, so
it’s not just receive diagnosis and treatment or
support services but ongoing services. So a
family and children may remain working with
the Umingmak Centre for a longer duration and
then also be connected to other services,
whether those are community services, services
within Health, or other departments. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. In an
earlier response the Deputy Minister of
Education cited a 12-year-old becoming
pregnant as an example of an area of concern
and | wonder if the Department of Health
collects any data on maternal and paternal age
for pregnancies, and specifically if there’s a 12-
year-old who’s pregnant is there a question
asked who might the father be, and how old is
that person, and what are the protocols around
that. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Qujannamiik to
the member for the question. We do as part of
our data collection, which is part of the health
record for any patient, whether anyone is
pregnant, which includes children and youth.
So we do collect that information, thanks to the
training that our nurses and our heath and
wellness professionals have. Different lines of
questioning may be asked as part of a medical
or counselling or service appointment. If
there’s information that leads to the concern
that a 12-year-old or a child who happens to be
pregnant may have been abused, then of course
that is reported to the appropriate authorities,
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whether that’s the RCMP or whether that’s the
Department of Family Services. Qujannamiik.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you for that. Can we just
get a clear answer about the protocols? If
there’s a 12-year-old who’s pregnant, we know
there are age of consent laws. What is the
threshold for reporting to Family Services or
the RCMP? Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) The member is
direct there is age of consent for young people.
If the age of consent is not met then the
protocol or requirement or duty for the
department is to report directly either to or both
the Department of Family Services or the
Department of Justice. Qujannamiik.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: For clarity, would that be the
Department of Justice or would it be a report to
the RCMP? Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) To the RCMP
Qujannamiik.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. | would
just like to go to the action plan that is being
developed on child sexual abuse and I would
like to hear, we know that there were privacy
issues around reporting and 1 would just like to
hear from the government witnesses how those
privacy issues will be addressed. Thank you,
Mr. Chair.
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Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Mr.
Chair, I understand that there is a move to
ensure that there is information sharing
agreements in place that would allow the
sharing of information through the various
stakeholders to enable an integrated service
model approach to allegations of sexual abuse.
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. I’ll just
go back to Ms. Bates. In the opening message
of the 2023-2024 annual report you note
following your appearance before this
committee in April of 2024 a recommendation
was brought forward that the Government of
Nunavut immediately develop a government-
wide action plan to address child sexual abuse
and sexual violence in Nunavut. And for the
record, it was this committee that made the
recommendation.

| would just like to hear Ms. Bates, to date,
what progress have you seen from the
government in addressing this specific
recommendation, and whether or not what

you’re observing is a good path forward. Thank

you, Mr. Chair.
Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank
you for the question. As I stated in the opening

comments, to my knowledge, the only progress
that I am aware of with respect to this Standing

Committee recommendations is the hiring of
the consultant who contacted myself directly.
I’ve had an extensive conversation with the
consultant about generally with reference the
Greenland sexual abuse strategy. | said that

might be a good, useful model to look at. But in

terms of anything further than that | would say
on that specific strategy, no, I’m not aware of
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anything further than the hiring of the
consultant. I’m unclear where it is in the
process.

Having said that, | do want to say that the work
being done in relation to the review of the
Child Abuse and Neglect Response Agreement,
| would submit to you is also progress in this
area because again, by strengthening that
response agreement, reviewing it, making it
more robust and also very clear, the last version
that | saw definitely made it much clearer that
there’s two investigations happening, need of
protection investigation, and there is the
criminal investigation happening. So | see that
as work as well in the child sexual abuse
strategy.

I’m hoping that the action plan will be kind of
put in there because investigation is kind of the
key here. | mean, there’s prevention; there’s
prevention education part of it. There’s the
actual investigation piece, and then there’s the
post-treatment piece that needs to, all those
components have to come into the action plan.

| also want to circle around a little bit to the
Umingmak Centre. The Umingmak Centre is
an invaluable resource and | will it provides a
service that is not being utilized enough, in
terms of often again when | review individual
advocacy files we see that there’s a child sexual
abuse matter going on, the Umingmak Centre’s
not involved. And I’m hopeful that, again, also
in the new standard and procedure for Family
Services the Umingmak Centre is listed as a
mandatory, now a mandatory kind of referral in
those matters. So | think that he is another piece
to the action plan, is putting all the pieces
together that I’m a little bit concerned about.

But again, they are in such an early stage that |
think that, I’m hopeful with all of the
collaboration with all the parties it will be put
together in a nice package, if you will.
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Again, as | talked about, it needs to be step by
step. You know what | mean. There’s got to be
the prevention, intervention the post what
happens and it has to be really holistic and
really comprehensive around everybody. It’s
not about just the child, family-centred, child-
focused. That should be the perspective from
which it comes from.

Also, the Umingmak Centre, one of the
limitations of the Umingmak Centre is it’s only
located here in Igaluit. | really feel strongly that
resources need to be put into the Umingmak
Centre so they can expand out their services so
that they are somehow offered in communities,
because in the event that something occurs in
the community, that child and family has to be
flown into Igaluit. They have to be put up in
hotels. You are disrupting them. You are taking
them out of their community, out of their
support system. So again the use of the
Umingmak Centre, resources go to the
Umingmak Centre | would strongly encourage
the government to look at the services they
provide and how they can fit into the overall
action plan. Because as it stands now they are
limited in terms of what services they can
deliver, because it’s only lgaluit-based. I trust
that answers the question. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Next name | have on
my list, Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. | would
like to continue on the topic of the sexual abuse
action plan. 1 would like to start off saying it’s
about time. In the previous Assembly, | tabled
the Greenland Sexual Abuse Reduction
Strategy and asked the Government of Nunavut
to create something similar. Now, 1I’m glad that
this is on the record that it is being conducted
and completed, and I’m sure it will have a great
benefit across the territory.
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Ms. Bates spoke a bit about the sexual abuse
action plan, what she knew about it, and that
the department had hired a consultant to begin
the work. But | would like to ask for the
Department of Family Services to provide an
update on the development of the sexual abuse
action plan. Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Mr. Chair, the government
heard loud and clear from this committee
during its last appearance that it was the desire
to have a sexual abuse action plan. We also
heard from Ms. Bates about the shortcomings
of the Child Abuse and Neglect Response
Agreement that she had identified within the
framework and, so we have been working very
determinedly with respect to, first and
simultaneously really, updating the framework
of the child response agreement we’ve
activated that working group through the
relevant ADMs and DMs. We defined our
pathway, if you will, Mr. Chair, in terms of
how are we going to go about getting this
action plan not only activated but implemented
as quickly as possible given the import of this
work that we’re undertaking.

In addition to hiring a consultant we’ve
developed a term of reference for the
committee that sort of sets out accountabilities
and the structure with which we are going to be
operating. We’re in the process of developing
training materials for committee members and
staff. We hoped, or our vision for this not only
the action plan but the work of the child abuse
and neglect response committee, which will be
responsible for the implementation and
operation of the action plan, is that we want to
see it cascade. This can’t just be deputy
ministers talking about a plan and not ensuring
that relevant staff members have their resources
and tools to activate and operationalize the
plan.
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| think, Mr. Chair, previously in my last
appearance, | made the submission that | don’t
think it was operationalized when it originally
was issued, and | think my colleagues around
the table would tend to agree, but I can say with
confidence that we are all committed to
ensuring that it becomes operationalized. We
anticipate that the Child Abuse and Neglect
Response Agreement is currently going through
the approval processes, that we hope to be able
to table it in the next sitting of the legislature.
The Child Sexual Abuse Action Plan is being
finalized, although its not just a consultant that
has been hired. We’ve been collaborating
internally with various sectors of our
government divisions including Health, Mental
Health, Health Operations, Education, Justice,
Victim Services, Child and Family Services to
develop these very defined plans to address this
very important issue. And while that may not
seem like a whole lot of effort, it does take a
great deal of effort to get our teams together on
a very specific item. But we remain committed
and steadfast in our plans to ensure that this
sexual abuse action plan will not only be
meaningful, but it will result in outcomes that
are positive for Nunavummiut children, and
particularly families, especially, and a general
well-being of the population. Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. Again, I’'m
glad that work is being done to reduce the rates
of child sexual abuse.

A big part of Greenland’s strategy to reduce
sexual abuse is to remove the stigma and break
the silence, and through public awareness
campaigns, community champions travelling to
communities to encourage people to speak out
and assist people with those discussions, and
also conducting anonymous surveys, voluntary
anonymous surveys of the adult population, and
youth, to determine the actual extent. Again,
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these are all issues that | have asked the
government to do on multiple occasions. Will
these specifically be included in the
Government of Nunavut’s Child Sexual Abuse
Action Plan? Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Yes, all
of that will be included. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. Thank you
for that response. | would like to move on. |
have few questions with regards to the
Department of Family Services’ opening
comments. Again, I’ve already expressed my
displeasure that the Director of Family
Services’ annual report did not include
statistical information, as was previously
provided, but I’m glad to see that the
department had launched the first
comprehensive referral report in February
2025. Would you be able to provide us a brief
summary about some of the findings that were

concluded in this comprehensive referral report.

Thank you, Chair.
Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Mr.
Chair, I made submissions with this at the
Committee of the Whole. There’s a great deal
of information that is made available through
this reporting mechanism, including all
demographic information, information with
respect to referrals and the status of the matter,
plan of care agreements and such, basically a
whole continuum of the standards.

In addition, as | mentioned in the opening
statement, it also gives us an idea of the
timelines between referral and investigation to
be able to inform supervisors and managers
around the compliance with respect to
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standards. So there are timelines in connection
with compliance and timelines for when the
referral comes in, when the investigation
begins, who should be involved, the case
planning and such. And so that report gives us a
snapshot of basically we can choose between
any pieces or any portions of those pieces of
datasets and bring up reports relevant to the
work that the Wellness division is undertaking
with respect to child protection. Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you. It seems like that
report does contain a lot of relevant
information, so | would like to ask if the deputy
minister would be able to provide that report to
the committee. Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Mr.
Chair, 1 would be delighted to present that to
the committee. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you. That is much
appreciated.

Moving on to the next item in the opening
comments on page 6, you get into the foster
care services. | was wondering if there has
some sort of agreement between the
Department of Family Services and Nunavut
Housing Corporation. Well, actually, hold on.
Before I get into that question, | would like to
ask for a brief summary of the current makeup
of our 297 foster homes. Do you know how
many of these foster homes are in GN staff
housing, how many are in public housing and
how many are in private housing. Thank you,
Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Ellsworth.
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Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. I’m
advised by my colleague that we don’t
currently have that level of detail with us, Mr.
Chair. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Can the deputy
minister include it in the written
correspondence for future details? Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. You read
my mind. Yes, it would be great to have an idea
of what the makeup of the foster care services
looks like. To get to my initial question, I’m
also very curious to find out if there’s an
agreement between the Nunavut Housing
Corporation and Department of Family
Services. As we all know, when employees are
in staff housing it is very difficult to get a move
of convenience to upsize to meet their family
needs. And I’m sure it’s probably even more
difficult to do so in public housing. So | would
like to know if there have been discussions
between the Department of Family Services
and NHC to allow for an expedited process for
foster parents in public housing and staff
housing to get larger units so that they can take
on more foster children. Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Mr.
Chair, there are ongoing discussions between
through the assistant deputy minister and |
guess Nunavut Housing Corporation, it would
be the vice president’s office, with respect to all
options that should be considered in the context
of the work that the Department of Family
Services is undertaking to implement its
strategic plan. Certainly that’s an excellent idea
| just heard from Mr. Lightstone, so | thank you
for that, sir, and | will definitely take that back
to that committee to ensure that that’s
examined and assessed with respect to the
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feasibility of that as a potential response. Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you for that
commitment. | do look forward to learning are
more about that as the department’s efforts
progress.

I would like to move on to the next topic in the
Department of Family Services’ opening
comments with regards to transition planning
for youth aging out of care. This has been a
topic that has been raised for a number of years,
including in the department’s own business
plans and annual reports. You mention that of
course this shift into adulthood can be
challenging for young people, especially those
in care and you talk about the use of extended
support agreements for those youth aging out of
care. And you mention that the agreements help
ensure that young adults have housing,
financial support and services as they move
into adulthood.

I would like to focus specifically on access to
housing, because this is a significant matter that
impacts all youth across the territory. With our
housing crisis there’s no room, units available
for our youth to move out and become
independent adults. That’s why we have so
many multigenerational homes in the territory.

| was wondering if you can talk a little bit more
about the specific efforts by the Department of
Family Services to ensure that these youth
transitioning into adulthood have access to
housing. Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and
thank you, Mr. Lightstone for that question.
The transition planning best case scenario
should begin well before the age of 18 and it
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should include a clear pathway to ensure that
mental health, housing, employment and post-
secondary supports are in place in advance of
that turning point in that young person’s life.
The extended service agreements is the
mechanism by which the Department of Family
Services can continue to offer financial
supports, essentially, so as it pertains to
housing, oftentimes that service agreement
would provide for the department to cover
rental expenses for that young person.

Recognizing, however, that the territory is also
is in a housing crisis, that obviously becomes a
lot more challenging to undertake, particularly
in centres where there’s a lack of either public
or private market housing available.

Notwithstanding that, together we are working,
again as | stated earlier, Mr. Chair, through the
ADM and VP committee to assess alternatives.
So while I can’t give you a specific A, B, C, D,
this is what we’re doing at the present time, we
are assessing out the transition planning on a
case-by-case basis through the work of not only
the director, but also the ADM in consideration
of her relationships with the assistant deputy
ministers and the vice present of NHC.

Certainly, Mr. Chair, I can commit to providing
further details in a submission to this
committee following our appearance today, if
you will allow, sir. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you Mr. Ellsworth. I’m sure
myself and the committee would appreciate that
information. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you again for that
commitment. | would also be very interested to
see how many of those youth that are
transitioning out of care actually receive that
housing assistance. Looking at the RCY’s
annual report in 2023-2024, 159 youth in care,
three had aged out, which does show a
declining trend from the 2019-2020 figure of
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15 youth aging out. | assume that is due to the
extended care.

I would like to move on to the next topic,
which is youth who are aging into income
support. As | mentioned, a third of our territory
is dependent on income support but over 40 per
cent of our youth turn 18 age into income
support. Is this something that the Department
of Family Services is actively tracking? Thank
you, Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. To
answer in brevity, Mr. Chair, yes, we are
tracking it. As of December 2024 there were
1,784 income assistance clients who were aged
between 18 to 26, 252 of which, Mr. Chair,
were of the age 18; 1,532 aged 19 to 26.

Not only are we actively tracking the number of
young folks aging into the system, we recently
— very recently, like at the last senior
management retreat a couple of weeks ago —
committed to defining better assessment tools
for these young folks. When | say that, asking
questions like do you want to be trained, what
is your area of interest, how can we support you
to achieve an outcome that results in you
coming off the income assistance system. And
so while it is very early dates, we are cognizant
of this phenomena and are concerned. It
suggests that there is a lack of employment,
perhaps. There are other system deficiencies, if
you will that are seeing the rise in subscribers
to the income assistance program.

But when | say we want to revise our processes,
on the instruction of Minister Nakasuk we have
already begun working with the Nunavut Arctic
College to determine what programs are
available in each community, so basically a
current state analysis. What programs are
available, you know, what needs to be done to
enhance them, potentially. And then on our side
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of the work, assessing how we can improve that
dialogue to identify individuals who want to
train or get out of the income assistance, Mr.
Chair. But then also we’ve talked about this
wrap-around service, this one client, one plan.
And | think we’ve just now, having regard to
the strategic plan and these pieces moving
along now at a decent momentum, looking
closer at how do we take an individual’s needs,
assess whether or not they want to be trained,
assess what supports they may need during the
course of that training process, recognizing that
there are challenges that come with attending
school, like child care, for example, and other
things, and then working with career
development to define what that training plan
looks like. Bringing the three divisions
together, wellness, income assistance, career
development through the lens of the best
outcome possible for Nunavummiut.

| know that expands on the question you asked.
Yes, we are tracking, but we are actively
currently assessing ways to ensure that there
are a pathway out. We do not want to approach
in a colonial sense. We do not want there to be
situations where, recognizing that the Income
Assistance Act is quite dated, and the income
assistance workers do have significant authority
under that act. We want to create a framework
where Nunavummiut can come to us and we
can create results for them that are meaningful
which will have impacts not only on that
individual but for their families and for their
children. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you for that response.
I’m glad to hear that there is active efforts
being made to address the situation and income
support.

I would also like to know, in the broader
income support program, what is the average
length of time individuals stay on income
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support, because when you narrow down, or |
guess break down the demographics of income
support with so many youth reliant on the
program, I’m also quite curious about — let me
rephrase that.

We all know that there is a phenomena called
welfare wall or income support trap, where it is
very difficult to get oneself off of the poverty
reduction program. So again, I’m very curious
to find out what is the average length of time an
individual spends on income support, and more
importantly, what is the average length time
that our youth spend on income support, again,
the demographic that you indicated of 18 to 26.
Sorry, I can’t read my handwriting. So | would
like to ask that question. Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair and |
sincerely appreciate that question, Mr.
Lightstone. | do not have that detail with me,
apologies to this committee, but | remain
committed to providing it following at the
conclusion of these hearings, if the chair will
allow. Thank you, sir.

Chairman: Not only will I allow, I will
encourage as much information be shared with
the committee. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you for that other
commitment.

I would like to move on to the next topic, youth
in out-of-territory care. | have been bringing
this matter up for a number of years, especially
when it comes to repatriation of those youth. In
the department’s response to the committee last
year, when | asked how many children have
been sent out of territory in the last 20 years,
how long do they stay, how many have been
repatriated and how many have aged out, and
the department’s response was the department
does not track that and does not have that
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information, cannot provide the precise figures
at this time.

I would like to ask again: How many children
have been sent out of Nunavut since 1999 and
how many of those children have come back?
Without seeing any figures on it, all I can
assume is that there are a tremendous amount
of Nunavut’s lost children spread across
Canada. That is why I am curious to find out
how often these children are actually returning.
Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Mr.
Chair, | share that inquiry and that concern.
One of the issues that was raised, you alluded
to it, sir, to earlier was with respect to our
inability to provide accurate data. It’s my
contention that the data probably has, never has
been accurate.

Having that said, Mr. Chair, what we’re
undertaking at the present time during the
phase 2 of the Matrix is the reconciliation of
legacy data. What we hope to be able to
achieve through that process is an identification
of individuals who have been sent out of
territory, following which we will engage a
strategy by which we try to understand and
assess where and if they are; where they are, if
they are, and if they have returned. It’s a
monumental undertaking, but it’s something
that I did commit to this committee when |
appeared before you in the last assessment of
the Representative for Children and Youth’s
annual report.

And so while today | can’t give you those
numbers, Mr. Chair, | remain committed to
undertaking processes to ensure that we can
identify those, including a portion which will
be in our communication strategy as an
outreach program where we try to understand,
through probably a national campaign: Where
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are you? How can we help? That’s what we’re
committed to doing, Mr. Chair. Thank you.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. So in your
response last year you had indicated there were
91 clients out of territory and there were several
reasons why children are sent out of territory,
whether it’s physical, mental, or behavioural
issues, and the physical and the mental issues
which tend to have more, those youth would
require higher levels of care that’s not available
in territory. But that does not mean that all
those children cannot be brought back.

As | had indicated last year, you had mentioned
that there were 91 clients out of territory. Since
the time of your response, May of last year,
how many of those youth have been returned to
Nunavut? Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Mr.
Chair, that number fluctuates daily, so I think
we would have to go back and look at exactly
how many have come and how many have
gone, and | think we’re relatively in a position
to be able to do that and come back with those
details.

What | can say, Mr. Chair, at the present time
we do have 88 children and youth receiving
support out of territory. The lion’s share of
those individuals are receiving medical group
care living situations. So in those
circumstances, until Nunavut is at a place
where we can support these young people
through the medical care facilities that we
currently do not have in territory, | believe that
number will remain consistent.

Of the 88 children currently out of territory, six
are in group care living; 17 are in foster care
homes; Mr. Chair, 12 are pending adoption;
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two are on short-term placements; one is in a
transitional living reality.

Just going a little bit further, of the 38 that are
currently in medical foster homes, their status is
as follows: 16 of them are on voluntary service
agreements, which means they are not
technically under the care of the director; 14 of
those lovely children are under permanent care
orders. One has a support service agreement;
two, temporary care orders, which means the
litigation is ongoing; five of whom are under a
plan of care.

And so to your question, we’ll have to come
back to you with respect to, it’s very fluid. On
one day there could be 92; the next day there
could be 86. Every day this number changes.
It’s important for this committee to recognize
that reality for the Department of Family
Services. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. | look
forward to receiving that information. I would
like to move on to the next topic, the staffing
levels in the Family Wellness Branch. Last year
there were 105 vacancies that the department
was working on filling. Would you be able to
provide an update today on the levels of
vacancies within the branch?

Chairman: Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. | would
seek clarity: Department-wide or Wellness
Branch? Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Well, ideally, both. Thank
you, Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Ellsworth.

Y2 DNLAKECDC, Sb>NLENKGAODC S
Aba AL®N*NC Aocnibd®o Ac Mo
AbNGALLC CCNAc™*M*o CCN<oNe
AbSHEC®IC P PHL*LC a5a A®IPNCES*LC
SPOSLNC. Sdhal™, Ab/RPCE®,

Ab/XPCSe (ONANJO): Sdy®al™. MC adob.

dadob OLMNJO): Sdbeal™, AbYRUDCS®.
sdytal o PBLA*L. CAPI
DPPPbaPNCLGEOA®DA Z<SLBCSHEC®IAC
dea<dO <AL oS, DSILA oS> 0 H ¢
ALCLCT MO AMSeGC. PLPSh®CH g ALd
ACEDC>N<5beb 5 ¢

QO A®IPNNNARg< CALL

Do P>BHABHECINDRLC. oP<®NN/LYb PY<lo
D>Sb®e<LLC CALASGC
DPICD Dol egG®INC, A, NN®bo<

NP ISHEC LTS GINAS SPIS*L N %bC
<> HNE

<AL SboAcC*LcSo Mo DobbibserLIAC
L<AL*Lo 23-T€ 30-JC. <L LbdeDc
PLLI®N*LC SGJCL®YDNNC Dodbe<lo*Ne
ASCSHROYADNLLC ALLC

Jea A <bEC AL LC ABACDAS, LPdAC.
SboNPe Acné SbD>ANSHECSh CALCDGC?
SHDANGINDYT GSePP<NLLAC 5
ANNG>NDYTC APYS o LodCD 0% 5? Sdyal™,
AbIRDCsb,

Ab/RQ>CSe OLANJ): T HLeC,

Hee ONMNJO): Sd2al™®, APYRPCS, Sdh*al
bNLN CAL® AANLLE. CLbd< SbP>AL NP SYC
OSbECHCDC <L NNP>HECGEC

4o dPCACcd®*o A5 DPYPb o PNYNAC
DR 525 C o d®CACCc oIS DGHLIAS
odCP>SHEC*LC PP®CaC <G o<\, oac®oC
deodi Moo, dAD%YLdo M o Coddr o,
SODANSADNTC, AL ADNoC, DR H5eGC
PecPod®Neda. > ®INC Go<ddcn o,
Pabbcnr o5 Clbdd A“HoNe

Jro <L SbeCAc GBPLSo+MCIAC CLbd<
ALLALOYAC SH>NLINNC SSbpsoy| LOC,

> AP<PNNE>EGALCC DPIIINNNPSYSaC
ANMNGD>N S DPY RPN SbeCHCDC

63




Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Mr.
Chair, the department has 287 funded positions,
of which 178 are filled indeterminantly, which
represents approximately 60 per cent of our
work force.

With respect to community Social Services
workers, we currently have 67 funded
positions, 37 of which are filled, 30 of which
are filled by casuals. I’m going to have to
switch between various source documents here,
so if you bear with me, Mr. Chair. With respect
to family resource workers, 14 funded
positions, five fulfilled indeterminately, three
casuals.

With respect to income assistance workers, 41
funded position, 32 filled indeterminantly; all
of whom are Inuit by the way, Mr. Chair. | do
not have data for the casual information on
those folks, so I’ll have to get back to you on
that.

And then with respect to career development
officers, there are 13 funded positions, seven of
which are filled, a number of which are filled
by casuals. | will have to get back to you with
exact details, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you for that. Before | go to
the next name on my list, I’m going to
recognize the clock and we will break for
lunch, returning at 1:30. Thank you.

>>Committee recessed at 11:46 and resumed
at 13:30

Chairman: Thank you. I would like to
welcome everyone back. The Standing
Committee on Government Operations and
Public Accounts, and before us we have the
Representative for Children and Youth and a
number of government office officials. Next
name | have on my list, Mr. Anavilok. Go
ahead, please.
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Mr. Anavilok (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Good afternoon
to everyone.

In Kugluktuk and Kitikmeot sometimes there’s
always uncertainty of children’s wellbeing
sometimes. | hear from the constituents, even
with medical travel. My first question is the
representative of youth. The status information
for the Department of Health on pages 23, 30,
of the 2023-2024 annual report provides a great
deal of data on the most common reasons for
accessing health services at different types of
health facilities. What did you request this
specific information from the department on
how does this information help you to address
issues specifically relevant to the rights of
children and youth in Nunavut? (interpretation)
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and
thank you for the question.

In terms of how the information informs our
work, what | would say is it does twofold. One,
it identifies systemic issues, so in terms of if we
see something that, immunizations or
something like that inside the information, then
we may have logged that into the systemic
database. Dental caries is a good one where
you’ll see contained in the health information
that the most common reason for young people
to be flown out, so on medevacs, not medevacs
but flown out for out-of-territory care, would be
for dental treatment. And so again, children
have the right to access to health care, so when
we look at all of the status of young
Nunavummiut sectioned together, it’s really
identifying those gaps and seeing where there’s
areas, as we identified, areas of concern that
need to be looked at by the departments.

The Status of Young Nunavummiut section, so
as part of our act, under the Representative for
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Children and Youth Act, section 35 sets out
what has to be included in the annual report,
and one of the requirements under the
Representative for Children and Youth Act is |
have to report on the status of young
Nunavummiut.

So as you know, what is brought to the
attention of our office are the complaints and
concerns. When | first took office | struggled
ed with understanding how would | be able to
report out on the status of young people when
all 1 see is a very small, | see the complaints, I
sea the concerns. So that’s why the status
section was developed.

Again, it’s not my opinion. It’s kind of trying to
look across the departments, looking at the
services that young people are receiving and
identifying places where there are good
outcomes like at attendance rates, graduation
rates. And then also looking at social
determinants of health. So we often requested
information around things around food
insecurity, housing, early childhood
development, all of those kinds of things.
That’s why you see that the status section is so
broad, because really, it was a reporting
requirement for me to report out on the status
of young people in Nunavut, and | felt the best
way to do that was to gather information from
each of the departments and say, this is the
services that the departments provide, and this
is their outcomes. Like this is what they are
recording as the services, what’s the outcome
of their services, basically.

In addition to that it, also informs me from a
critical injury and death perspective. So we
pick up, sometimes we will note in the
information the reporting of critical injuries and
deaths. We can see them. Sometimes I will
compare the information, the data from the
Department of Health versus from the
Department of Family Services as it relates to
critical injuries is a little hard to compare
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because of the way the Department of Health
codes. And also there’s no mandatory reporting
requirement for the Department of Health in
terms of reporting critical injuries.

So in terms of the status section, that’s how the
information is used, twofold, to inform what
systemic issues | need to be looking at.
Violence in schools is another one that came
out of the status section, watching for the
reporting of violent incidents at schools.

The second part, so identifying systemic issues
and also identifying, basically reporting
meeting the mandated requirement of the
Representative for Children and Youth Act.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Anavilok.

Mr. Anavilok (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Thank you for
the response. Some years ago there was a
suicide due to bullying in school, and I went to
the high school and asked questions. They
didn’t know too much about it, so maybe it
didn’t have all the information there, I guess,
saved.

Next question is on page 29 of your 2023
annual report you note that around 30 per cent
of medical travellers are 19 years of age and
younger. How is this information relevant to
the specific issues addressed by your office?
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank
you for the question. So it’s relevant to our
office because in relation children have the
right to access health care, and so again, we
looked at, the reason why we requested that
information is to see how oven young people
were having to leave the territory to access
health care. And so what that tells us is there
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are services that are missing inside the territory.
And so that’s how we utilized that particular
information. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Anavilok.

Mr. Anavilok (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Quana for the
response. | just want to go to the Department of
Health. Going to oral care for young people,
small kids, children one to five years old, there
are all these issues with making appointments
and, sometimes they don’t make them because
they don’t have, say, a health care card yet or,
even NTI card numbers, or even IDs, and some
people had to, some children missed their
appointments and/or they were delayed and
they had to wait another month, two months,
three months. These kids are having tooth
aches, | guess, so that has been an issue, too. |
guess that’s probably like that in all of
Nunavut.

| wonder if there was any work done on that
part within the health department, like making
sure. 1 don’t know how long it will take to get
from when a child is born to like the first five
years. Is there any work being done on them
getting proper ID? Because most times you
need like health care card number. That’s the
main one, | guess, and other IDs to travel, to be
able to travel. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt (interpretation): Qujannamiik, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you (interpretation ends) to
the member for the question. Any child under
16 doesn’t require ID to travel with a caregiver
or parent. However, your question was also
what supports are in place to assist parents or
caregivers with getting ID for their children.
Some of that sits with the work that we do with
Health, so when a mother is pregnant or when a
child is born, at the hospital or location where
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the child is born we have the paperwork for
registration is provided. We also do education
to support families around doing the documents
to get the Nunavut health care card. Also
having children registered with Indigenous
Services Canada so that their non-insured
health benefits can also be supported. Ongoing
education and those supports is definitely a
priority for our families.

And then making sure that staff within the
department are, when we have contact with
families, giving them information and helping
them fill out paperwork so that they can get that
ID for their children. Qujannamiik.

Chairman: Mr. Anavilok.

Mr. Anavilok (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Thank you for
that response. I’m taking it all that information
is shared with clinics in Edmonton or
Yellowknife, where the more detailed surgeries
and all that? I’m pretty sure all that information
is shared with them, because there was some
issues from my constituents saying that they
didn’t have all that information down there.
They had to, | don’t know, come up with some
kind of a document to see if they could bring
their children down.

Anyway, the status information for the
Department of Health provided on pages 23 to
30 of the child and youth representative’s 2023-
2024 annual report provides a great deal of data
on the most common reasons for accessing
health services at different types of health
facilities. To what extent does your department
conduct analysis of this type of data to improve
services delivered to children and youth?
(interpretation) Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt: Qujannamiik, Igsivautag, and
Qujannamiik to the member for the question.
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So there are a number of areas of data that is
collected that we are stewards of in the
Department of Health. Some of those key areas
where information or health information is
gathered is at the Qikigtani General Hospital,
community health centres, regional health
centres, laboratories through our mental health
programs, oral health vital statistics, medical
travel, finance, health insurance through some
of our chronic disease surveillance, and our
public health programs. That data is really
important when we think about the manner in
which we do our strategic road maps and our
planning for programs and services. So it gives
us some insight into what do we need to do
more of from a program- or service-delivery
perspective; is there anything different or new,
how do we identify the appropriate manner in
which we have infrastructure, capacity,
partnerships, and then is there anything that we
need to do differently.

So if we see higher rates of a certain condition
or issue, that data helps us so then plan for
strategically being able to focus on that specific
area. But it also helps us plan for
communication and health promotion, being
able to develop reports to communicate to the
public or to our partners, and then also it allows
us the ability to look at some of our strategic
partnerships outside of territory where we can
leverage specialized services or other services,
not only to support children, but Nunavummiut
as a whole.

The CHEO hospital is a really good example of
a partnership where many services for children
from Nunavut take place. Qujannamiik.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Anavilok.

Mr. Anavilok (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for responding.
(interpretation ends) Data provided on page 23
of the child and youth representative’s 2023-
2024 annual report indicates that the most
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common reasons for medical travel for children
10 years of age or younger is for dental care.
How does your department use this data to
allocate resources for children, for child dental
health? (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt: Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman and
Qujannamiik to the member for the question.
The member is correct that we really look at the
top 10 areas of medical travel for children and
Nunavummiut as a whole. When we think
about dental and the high number of young
people that travel for dental services, one of the
things that has given us the ability to do in
leveraging data is to negotiate with our federal
counterparts. For example, through Indigenous
Services Canada we’ve been able to request an
additional 22 weeks of scheduled in-territory
dental services for children at QGH, and this
has increased the total number of service rates
from 2023-2024 to 33 weeks. So that data and
understanding our medical travel with children
around dental gives us the ability to advocate
with our federal counterparts for more services
in territory. Qujannamiik.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Anavilok.

Mr. Anavilok (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for your response.
(interpretation ends) The Representative for
Children and Youth information presented in
page 31 of 2023-2024 annual report includes
statistics on a number of youth involved in the
justice system. How often is your office
contacted to provide assistance to youth in the
justice system? (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank
you for the question. | can safely say that the
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Department of Justice have the least amount of
contact with the Representative for Children
and Youth office. Largely we monitor systemic
issues like child friendly court, those types of
things, but in terms of intervening with young
people currently involved in the justice system,
I can recall maybe two cases on two occasions
where we’ve spoken with the young person.
There was a concern that was brought to our
attention. Only if a concern is brought to our
attention would we then engage with a young
person to try to resolve it or look into it. Again,
we get very few cases related to justice and
involvement with justice. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Anavilok.

Mr. Anavilok (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for your response
(interpretation ends) The Department of Justice,
| want to say in Kugluktuk, and I’m pretty sure
it’s all the same in all the communities, like we
get new constables coming in, exchanging
other constables. Sometimes there’s a new crew
of four, three or four, and these individuals are
new to the community, and 1’ve heard concerns
from my constituents on when RCMP gets
called for an incident. They get called and they
are told the House number, street number but
they have no idea where it is. And sometimes
when they are trying to find that person that has
been called by a house and they are trying to
find that place, but by the time they get there
the intoxicated person mostly is gone by now,
and moving on to the next house, and they get
call again from that house that the person went
to, and they are still trying to find him.

| brought this up I think last year around this
time, that it would be a good idea to try to hire
an individual from the community. Like they
know pretty much who lives where, and be
really good to grab that person that’s making all
the trouble. I’m not sure if you are aware of it
or seen it because | brought it up last year. | just
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want to find that out first. Quana, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Ellsworth.

Ms. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair and
thank you to the member for the question. This
is not new to us. It has actually been
recommended that we look into more hiring in
the communities who are aware of what’s
happening in the communities, and people who
look up to that person who can help provide
those services. So we are looking into this
model. And we want you to know that we will
certainly bring this back to the RCMP, who we
have discussions with, and we’ll highly
recommend them to find someone in the
community to help them, not only with finding
people, but also culturally and to provide
Inuktitut services. So thank you, yes.

Chairman: Mr. Anavilok.

Mr. Anavilok (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) It was always
affecting mostly the elders and the infants that
were most vulnerable.

My question, information provided on page 23
of your child and youth representative 2023-
2024 annual report indicates a significant
increase in alcohol- and drug-related arrests
among young people 12 to 17 years of age.
How does your Department of Justice work
with other government departments to identify
and address substance abuse issues amongst
youth? (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Before I go to Ms. Ellsworth, it’s
page 32. Ms. Ellsworth.

Ms. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair and
thank you to the member for the question. What
happens when the RCMP get involved with
youth who have been exposed to alcohol and
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who start to drink alcohol, we don’t necessarily
bring them into the justice system right away.
We try and help them and educate them. But
we also look to my colleagues here that when
we do meet we have these discussions about
how we can educate the youth about the
alcohol.

There has been a recommendation made by the
Representative for Children and Youth
regarding providing awareness campaign on
alcohol abuse and alcohol. That’s something
we’ve had discussions on, and we really are
looking towards specifically education, and the
department of finance, who hold the Liquor
Licensing Board. We are looking to provide
more awareness of alcohol in youth.

Lastly, if there is child who is caught up in our
justice system who has been under the
influence and charged and have to serve, we
provide elders counselling as well as taking
them out on the land to remind them who they
are and where they come from, and exposing
them to their culture.

Lastly, we want them to know that there are
supports in place, and we certainly look to the
Department of Health for mental health
services as well. These are some of the things
that the Department of Justice does. Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Anavilok.

Mr. Anavilok (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you for your response.

(interpretation ends) The status information for
the department of Justice on page 33 of the
child and youth representative 2023-2024
annual report shows “crimes against young
people.” And it is noted that the number of
charges has increased significantly. From the
department’s perspective, what factors have
contributed to the increase in these types of
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charges? (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Ellsworth.

Ms. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and |
thank the member for the question. Can he just
confirm? He mentioned an increase or a
decrease?

Chairman: Thank you. So if you to page 33 in
the report from the representative, if you look
across the top, it shows the different years and
how many charges have been laid and it just
says that the crimes against young people it’s
noticed that there’s a significant number of
charges have increased. Do you see that, Ms.
Ellsworth? What the member is asking is what
factors have contributed to the increase in these
types of charges, from the department’s
perspective. Thank you.

Ms. Ellsworth: Thank you Mr. Chairman. |
appreciate the clarification. Is it possible to get
that information to the member at a later time?

Chairman: So we’ll note that in the
government’s response that we’ll be expecting.
Mr. Anavilok.

Mr. Anavilok (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chair. (interpretation ends) This will be my last
question for the Representative of Children and
Youth. Page 24 of the annual report indicates
that 291 young people have accessed supports
through Victim Services in 2023-2024, an
increase of almost 100 cases when compared to
2022-2023. A breakdown of the types of

Victim Services support access is also included.

From your perspective, why has there been
such a large increase in the number of victim
services supports being request by young
people? (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Bates.
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Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and |
thank the member. Without speaking to young
people directly, I’m not sure | would know why
there has been the increase. | believe, based on
some of my interactions when | have visited
some of the communities, that young people are
more aware that they can access victim
services. Additionally, when | spoke with the
RCMP, they have also, | believe, started to
publicize that or offer that service up when
young people come in contact with the RCMP
in relation to an offence if they have been
witness to domestic violence. So that may be
why you see the increase in accessing that
service.

In two of the communities that | was recently
in, certainly the community justice worker was
very, very active in the community and out
communicating to the community. So | would
attribute that communication strategy as part of
the reason you see the increase in accessing
those services. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Bates. Next name |
have on my list, Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Good afternoon, folks. Welcome. First off I’ll
start off with, just for some clarification,
Department of Justice, in your opening remarks
on page 3, right in the middle there, talks about
various committees. These committees also
connect youth with available programs and
services such as elder counselling. I’'m
wondering what kind of elder counselling is
being utilized. Are these actual elders that have
Inuit Qaujimajatugangit knowledge? Or is it a
person that is now 65 years of age and is now
classified as an elder? What kind of elder
counselling is the department talking about?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Ellsworth.
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Ms. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and |
thank the member for the question. So the
committee that you are referring to is our
justice committee. We have committee
members that are in the regions that oversee,
for example if youth need elders counselling,
they will find someone within their community
who is qualified and is capable of providing
those services to the young person.

Now, as for the standard that you just
mentioned, whether they are 65 or not, I’m not
sure. We do know that we look towards elders,
respected elders. The committee would know
or a referral would be to the committee that
would provide those services. Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank you for the response. | appreciate it. It’s
good to know that the department is utilizing
elders that are respected and do know proper
counselling techniques and whatnot.

Next off to Family Services. Same thing
regarding opening comments. | have a few
from this one, on page 3. Sorry, let me start at
page 2. It’s at very bottom. It’s regarding
development and implementation of standards
of practice, review and update standards of
practice to improve consistency, accountability,
service quality across the territory. This work
also aims to align front line services more
closely with Inuit Qaujimajatugangit and
legislative obligations. The front line services
and the front line staff members, have they
been trained and taught Inuit
Qaujimajatugangit? Like do they know what
each of these principles mean and how they
should be used by the staff? Is that taught to the
front line staff members in Family Services?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and
thank you for that question. A very important
one, | might add. I would submit respectfully to
this committee that the current training
framework does include core competencies in
Inuit Qaujimajatugangit. As | mentioned, we
recently launched a revised mandatory core
training for all staff coming on line. In addition
to this, we’ve also required current staff to
undertake this training to ensure that they are
not only aware of the conceptual nature of these
competencies, but to ensure that they are
practically applying them in their daily work as
they undertake their important function as
community Social Services workers and family
resource workers. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and
thank you for the response. I’m glad it’s being
taught to the front line staff and that it’s
mandatory. It’s very important that we use Inuit
Qaujimajatugangit principles right across the
board.

Further, the same thing to Family Services on
Family Services on page 3 as well, still towards
the bottom, it mentions, it is regarding service
delivery models. It is part of its design not only
to improve service delivery but also to
empower families, strengthen community ties,
and promote intergenerational wellness.

Now, before we can get into intergenerational
wellness, there may be intergenerational trauma
that needs to be dealt with. Does the
department look at whether there may be
intergenerational trauma that needs to be deal
with? Counselling, for counselling services and
whatnot? Because before you can get into
moving forward with intergenerational
wellness, we need to deal with trauma from the
past. Is that realized and dealt with by the
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department? Is that being worked on regularly?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Mr.
Chair, and thank you for the question. The team
at the Department of Family Services is acutely
aware of the intergenerational trauma that lives,
| would say, within 95 to 100 per cent of our
homes in Nunavut. And so a large part of our
training, core training is around trauma-
informed practice and the need to recognize
that there’s a certain way to deal with
individuals who are transcending not only the
child protection system, but all of our systems,
really. | think we all have incorporated trauma-
informed practice models within the framework
of our service delivery.

So that was the long answer, Mr. Chair. The
short answer is yes, we recognize that we need
to not only pursue wellness generally speaking,
but we also simultaneously need to be
cognizant of the trauma and working towards
resolving that through our various government
services Mr. Chair. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman and
thank you, Mr. Ellsworth. Still on Family
Services, on page 9 right in the middle, it’s
regarding front line teams experiencing
vicarious and other forms of trauma in the work
they do. Now, the work that community and
social services workers do, day in, day out,
week in, week out, all year round can be quite
heavy. One of the heaviest jobs. Does the
department keep track of, let’s say, how many
very heavy cases each community social
services worker deals with on a weekly or
monthly basis? Like if there are 30 days in a
month, perhaps 20 of those days were dealing
with very heavy cases, and it leads to
depression, anger, all the negative side effects
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that comes with dealing with traumatic
situations. I’m trying to speak out for the
community social services front line staff to
ensure that they are getting the proper supports.
Does the department keep track of, let’s say
each employee as to how much very heavy
work they are doing on a monthly basis to
make sure it evens out so they are not dealing
with it all, every single day? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Mr. Chair, | would say at the
present time we’re not currently at a place
where we can assess it at that level. However, |
remain confident that the ongoing
implementation of the case management system
will lend insights into that very phenomena.

| would also add for the benefit of the
committee’s knowledge that the Department of
Family Services has secured direct support
services for all staff in the department through a
clinical service that’s available for debriefing
with individuals or groups of individuals who
are involved in traumatic, real-life experiences
that occur. There’s counselling services for
them. We do have statistics with respect to how
often those services are currently being
accessed, and it’s invaluable. I have submitted
to this committee previously that it’s really
important to ensure that our staff are well, so
that we can help others be well. And that
includes knowing what they’re dealing with,
ensuring that we’re providing adequate access
to resources, in addition to what may already be
available.

But then we’re also doing, Mr. Chair, these
weekly clinical supervisions. They are really
helping the supervisors, managers, and
directors to gain a much clearer insight into
those cases, how it impacts not only the family
that we’re hoping to give the best services to,
but also the staff.
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And so this ongoing dialogue is really
important until we get to a time where we can
equally say with our case management system,
this person has had ten files this week and they
either need respite or we need to bring them off
line so that we can recuperate. We’re getting
there, but in the meantime, some of the things |
just discussed are sort of the intermediary
responses in recognition of the fact that the
work that they do is really, can be really
traumatic and it impacts all of them differently,
but all of them very deeply. Some people are
very resilient and they can manage that, and
then something happens to them. We don’t
want that to happen. We want to make sure that
there are these systems in pace and mechanisms
to make sure that the staff are healthy and that
their well being is being supported as best as
they can. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Just to follow up with
Mr. Simailak’s question, is there a ranking or
rating system that cases have, like different
categories? | look at health care senior care.
You have level 1 care is very little assistance,
where level 5 is high complex needs. Are cases
categorized under different rankings? So when
we look at somebody has ten red circle clients
and another person has three yellows, that type
of thing. Is there a ranking or are they just
across the board? Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. | think
each case is assessed on its own merit. | know
that for example with respect to residential
care, there is ranking where one would
represent the least level of intervention that’s
required and level five would require the
highest level of intervention. Certainly we will
be joined team morning by Mr. Colby
O’Donnell, who would perhaps be in a better
position to speak directly on this matter, but to
answer your question | think at the early
referral intervention stage, no, but I think as the
case workers become more aware of what the

11,327 AP/SoC AbSL®CSsbse<c >s*(,C

<ADA*a DENHECTLC PRJC ShGRDL*PNJC
<ADA*a PN T SeNLLALD>SIE_SeCG <D C
’20N%o. ALLA<AILC, al sl LCo

Do uP>ULALCC Do ?LALECHEEC AcnsoC

>R 55 ¢ DNCNI®I N 0¢ Do beCPa *IJC
4 <O 05%0C AlLenbDSdd HCHYGC,
Ao <D nnbdC o da AS/ILLLC Pedc
A®ba AY®PNC @ <P PAcAND>N<SbSLALse
CAL® AcN&*T € bD*AbNNNC Acn<SbAULLC
Ao <M NNLALEINS ASOC>NENE SN
ACNAE <*P<seb*LC D*Nc*Lo. CAL

bLADNC AD>SHEC®IC ACNANL. ACNANYNC
o< NALBCSLC Ao <ND><

AR INNIr 0 AR cdonr* o
CAPI ACNOLT ABPcnNCC>se
NJT<NC>SHECTYAS AbeC>P<Sbse/LYcLoc
AN*Peg. CAPI <AKLSIN* <
JOPBLNCH>NA e <DNE Ac_bd< >
Ac®a<®NC Ab¥eCD>b PN N1 of
<SaDNCDPNCH>RULLC DI oC
>SbcLULSoC LceONE.

APPD< <Sa NN 4L Do ?LALCC BYbhoc
Ardc®.of <ALPIALTbeCADC qSGUre
ACPPSTC Ach, Acto<saNeod <5GJ Lo
Ac®o<sa <. NNLAG®INC SGUT AT
bI*ASHNNIAC Aca<ISe\C Sbos

o DDA UC bNNALb*oSbeC<e<,
CAPI AP 0C AbNSeC>SdyD>LAC
ABIPCDANDLYA“ S IMLebC AdcAAbd 05
COLD>P<SbeNC>2 oS, CdY>NC>*aGH<sL*LC
SH>ALNNSHGAKITNIC, PUcbb o LU >
SH>APLRCD>N<SHE P CC>P<HG SIS LC

QO ASCHILAC,

L@ K€ ><vlc AcbDSdbbb PD*<Nbb.
Sgbeq ™, Ab/RDCSe,

Ab/RQPCSe OLANJY): Sdy2al™. M >C,

>t OLNNJO): Sdb*al™, Ab/RPCS®, sdy*al ™
bNLN <JANLLE CALd. <L FosCp<

DL LECD® A P<Se/GCSTLLE, Pl
>RGN H L Abn<IDL/>ILL

T ASSIOYNIPC Sh>pLE Y L.

81




case requirements are, it may attract a higher
priority, if you will, Mr. Chair. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. The reason | was
asking is, to go along with Mr. Simailak’s
question, when you look at the case workers
themselves, what type of cases are they
responsible for, so it could have a dramatic
effect on the level of care. Mr. Simailak. Sorry
to interrupt your line of questioning.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Thank
you. Thank you as well, Mr. Ellsworth. My last
question for Family Services right now on page
11, still on your opening remarks, this talks
about, right in the middle there, joint planning
on mental health services for youth,
development of the memorandum of
understanding on gender-based violence
initiatives with Justice, engagement with
Department of Education to strengthen
reporting of violent incidents in schools. And it
goes on to say we are also deepening our
partnerships with Inuit organizations whose
knowledge and values are essential to designing
services that reflect our communities.

Can the department please elaborate on how the
partnership with the Inuit organizations is
working. Is it capacity or is it financial, or are
they doing studies for the Department of
Family Services? Can you please report on the
partnership. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Mr.
Chair, this partnership is largely built upon the
framework of the Katujjikatiginik Partnership
Committee, which was established by the
leadership of the Government of Nunavut and
Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated, together with
the regional Inuit associations. These
partnerships have been really valuable in the
context of informing our work with respect to
the llagiitsiarniq strategic plan. We’ve arrived
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at a mutually-agreed-upon work plan which
sets out the goal that we hope to achieve as a
partnership. One of those goals includes a
modernized child welfare system that reflects
Inuit Qaujimajatugangit.

Mr. Chair, Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated
recently released a revised strategy document
which contemplated partnerships with the
Government of Nunavut through potential
delegation of authorities for the purposes of
prevention services for children and other
things.

This partnership meets regularly, Mr. Chair. |
would say that during the buildup of the
Ilagiitsiarniq strategic plan we were meeting
weekly with NTI and RIAs to define what those
specific action items looked like. We can’t do
this alone, Mr. Chair. We need to ensure, as |
mentioned back in May of 2023 when we
examined the Office of the Auditor General’s
report that services need to be consistent with
Inuit culture, Inuit way of living, and that is
exactly what we hope to chief through the
partnership with Nunavut Tunngavik
Incorporated and the Inuit associations, through
the regional operations. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. Ellsworth, for the information
there about the partnership with Nunavut
Tunngavik.

Move on to the Department of Education. In
the Representative for Children and Youth
annual report, on page 79, right in the middle,
there it mentions the Department of Education
does not recognize mature minors. It’s
regarding mental health. The Department of
Education does not recognize mature minors.
Although they do allow youth 16 years of age
and older to provide their own consent, they
continue to require those 15 years of age and
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younger to obtain consent from a parent or
guardian. That last part there, the Department
of Education says, I’ll repeat it: They continue
to require those 15 years of age and younger to
obtain consent from a parent or guardian.

What if the issue is the parents themselves? Or
the youth needs the help, but the parents are the
issue? How does the Department of Education
deal with it so that the youth gets the help that
they need? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Deputy Minister
Hainnu.

Ms. Hainnu: Thank you, Chair. | thank the
member for the question. It is an important
question to address in the House because it
should be clear that under no circumstances
services are denied to a child 16 years above or
15 below. One thing we will tell you is that the
way the Department of Education Act
delivering education for K to 1 and support
services for students in K to 12 is very different
from that of a health care profession or Family
Services or Justice, where it is, as a matter of
fact it’s life and death sometimes, right. And so
therefore any services that a child needs they
should be able to obtain, whether a mature
minor is recognized.

A mature minor exists in Health, but it does not
in Education, but for two very different
reasons. If a youth in a school requires medical
attention or mental health interventions
although there are different rules, at the end of
the day the child, or student, in this case a
youth, gets the services they need. They should,
based on mature minor or not. | hope that’s
clear. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Simailak.
Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Thank you for the response. Staying with
education and the same subject here, students
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that are in school, so youth 16 years of age and
older do not need parental consent. Now, what
about in the situation and | am going to ask
Health as well, a follow-up question with this.
If some students don’t have maybe the maturity
to understand what’s going on, how would the
department deal with that in that type of
situation? They are classified as 16 or older,
and they should be able to understand what’s
going on, but they may not understand fully
what’s going on and they are trying to be
offered help but they say no to it. But the
teachers realize the student may need help. Is
there some way we can ensure that the students
do get the help? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Hainnu.

Ms. Hainnu: Thank you, Chair. | thank the
member for the question. In the school system
there are many ways and many mechanisms
that will be triggered based on disclosures,
occurrences or incidences or events. So
therefore, if a youth 16 and over who is not
cognitively mature enough to make a sound
decision, most likely that individual person or
student has an individual student support plan.
So Education staff would be quite aware and
the whole team would be aware. That team
would consist of principal or vice principal,
student support teacher, classroom teacher, and
the parents would be involved. So going right
off the bat, on the first day of school, those
students who have an individual support plan or
those who are known to many of our teachers,
communities, we know our community schools.
We know which students would require
additional supports.

Even whether it’s mature minor or not, it
doesn’t stop the school from making referrals.
We can make referrals to the Health
Department for mental heath services and/or
other services, like an ear ache or vision issues,
or if it’s neglect, to Family Services. So there
are always mechanisms and the school team is
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the first respondent on site there for the student.
Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you Ms. Hainnu. So the Department of
Health regarding mental health for students,
and even if they are not in school, if a young
person goes in to see a mental health nurse and
he’s prescribed medication to deal with the
mental health issues, now | have seen some
commercials where they are advertising a drug,
but they also put in a warning saying, if you
have suicidal ideation, please consult your
physician. So how does that work for a youth
that may be prescribed some of these brain
medications that’s supposed to help with
mental health, but could also induce suicidal
ideation? How is that dealt with to ensure that
the youth is protected? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt: Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman. If the
chair would so support, | would have ADM
Victoria Madsen answer that question.
Qujannamiik.

Chairman: My apologies, | didn’t notice the
redirect. Go ahead please, Ms. Madsen.

Ms. Madsen: | can’t comment on the
commercial, but if a young person came to a
mental health nurse or consultant, we would
involved a psychiatrist. We would have a
physician involvement. So they would be able
to look at medications that are good and
medications that might make the situation
appear worse for them. Does that answer the
question thoroughly?

Chairman: Thank you.. Mr. Simailak.
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Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. | am
sorry, | kind of got lost. If she can repeat it in
another way. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Madsen.

Ms. Madsen: Sometimes when people are on
certain medications, they can activate the
person. You might remember years ago we
heard Prozac actually increases people taking
their life by suicide. But in actuality what it is
IS when a person starts to take something like
antidepressants they start to feel better, they
feel a little bit energized, and that might give
them the focus to carry out a plan. Now, that’s
not always what these commercials are warning
about, but my point is that a physician, a
psychiatrist would know if a young person
came to them with mental health issues, they
would know what best to prescribe and to make
sure that it didn’t increase possible suicidal
ideation. And of course there would be ongoing
follow-up. It wouldn’t just be the one visit.
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Simailak.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Thank
you for the responses. My last question for
now. It’s regarding referrals. Let me start from
the beginning here. When there are statistics
used, like there’s sexual abuse that happens, it
may be that a nurse or health practitioner learns
first what’s going on, because the parent will
bring the youth to the health centre to make
sure they are fine and testing and whatnot.
Then I believe the Health Department has to
advise Family Services, maybe, or the Royal
Canadian Mounted Police. And then there’s a
few different departments that’s dealing with it,
and then it goes to on referrals as well. There
may be referrals done, as has been mentioned
here a few times already.

So for each department I’ll be directing this to,
when a referral is done, does the staff members
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actually ensure that the referral is dealt with? |
bring this up because just recently, not to pick
on the Department of Health, but it happened
within the health field just recently. One of my
constituents has been waiting for over a year to
see a specialist that’s going to lead to a surgery.
The constituent was referred to a specialist, and
then going back to the health centre. Over a
year. The nurse says we are waiting for your
referral. You didn’t see the specialist so we’re
waiting to see your specialist to deal with your
situation.

It wasn’t until Patient Relations got involved it
was learned that the specialist was never
consulted. The specialist didn’t know they
needed to see a client. So the specialist
immediately called my constituent and said
okay, my first opening is in July. I will see you
in July. Please come down in July. So that was
over a year where there was supposed to be a
referral done, but no one followed it up to
ensure the referral was received.

I would please like to direct my question to
each department. Mr. Chairman, if you don’t
mind, to ensure each department does follow up
on referrals to make sure that the person is
supposed to deal with it actually receives the
referral. Is that being insured? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you Mr. Simailak. I’m not
sure what kind of referral would be to the
Department of Justice or the Department of
Education, but | think there would be direct
applications to the Department of Health and
Family Services, so maybe if you want to
supplement your question, Mr. Simailak, go
ahead.

Mr. Simailak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Deputy Minister Hainnu mentioned they do
referrals as well, sometimes, so when they are
dealing with a student, they are referring the
student to another department, maybe, or
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Health, or Royal Canadian Mounted Police or
somewhere. That is why | mentioned each
department, if that’s fine. They may know more
about what kind of referrals they deal with,
which is why | was hoping each department
would answer, please, Mr. Chairman. Thank
you.

Chairman: Thank you. I will include the
department. That was kind of my point, it
would be referred to Department of Health or to
Family Services. I’ll start off with Family
Services. Then I’ll go to Health and then I’ll go
to Education. Mr. Ellsworth first, please.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and |
won’t refer this question to someone else. In
our context there are a couple of referrals. One
is in the context of a suspected child abuse or
neglect. Under the Child and Family Services
Act, everyone, everyone in Nunavut and
otherwise, has a duty to refer a matter to Family
Services where they suspect a child is in need
of protection. When we receive a referral our
standards of practice dictate what happens next.
There’s a safety determination of investigation
and a whole myriad of other directions that
referral can lead. Internally it’s up to the
supervisor and managing team to ensure that
those referrals are managed appropriately,
according to our standards of practice.

Mr. Chair, there’s also another referral where
we might come to learn that a young person
requires mental health services. In that context
we would refer to the matter to our friends at
mental health at the community level.

Going further, Mr. Chair, when the RCMP
become aware of a situation that involves a
child who may be in need of protection, the
RCMP are required to refer that to Family
Services. If there’s an independent Family
Services matter that we’ve been referred, and
the social worker team determines that there
may be a criminal element to the referral, then
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we will refer the matter to the RCMP. And it’s
up to the social worker to then work with the
RCMP through a joint investigation to
determine two things: one, the criminality of
the referral for the RCMP’s portion of that
work; and two, the child protection nature or
necessities that may be involved. So there’s
different sort of contexts for referrals, Mr.
Chair, and from our perspective that sort of
wraps them all up, hopefully in a way that is
appreciated. That word is widely used and
perhaps there should be better semantics for
that kind of dialogue. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt: Qujannamiik, Iksivautaq, and
Qujannamiik to the member for the question.
I’m glad to hear that the incident, or the
particulars of the case that you were talking
about has been resolved.

From a case management and coordination
from referrals, so whether we are making the
referral from the Department of Health
internally or to a partner organization, or where
we’re receiving the referral to provide services
within the Department of Health, we have
teams in the different departments that are
responsible for case management and
coordination, similar to what you’ll see within
medical travel, for example. It may be around
diagnostics, it could be around treatment, it
may be around mental health services, or going
to a treatment program whether that is for
mental health and trauma or whether that’s for
substance use.

From that perspective, that’s the way that it
works, that if a referral is going out, the case
management team or most responsible provider
is supposed to make sure, or is supposed to
make sure that those referrals are received, and
then that follow-up has happened.
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To your point, sometimes things or
communication may fall through the cracks,
and I’m so glad to see that people are using the
Office of Patient Relations so that we can get
that information quickly and we can work to
resolve any concerns or challenges with
referrals or experiences within the health care
setting.

One of the other things from the mental health
side of things, you will have heard ADM
Madsen talk previously about the mental health
surveillance system. Granted | think we need to
call it something different because it’s not an
electronic system necessarily, but it really is
around case management and coordination so
that we can make sure that information and the
right information is available at the right time.
It reduces people having to tell their
experiences over again. And we can ensure that
the right services are being provided, that that
follow-up is happening. And if additional
referrals or services are required, then we have
the ability to do that in a more timely and
seamless way. (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Hainnu.

Ms. Hainnu: Thank you, Chair. | thank the
member for the question. | may ask Charlotte
Borg to supplement, if | forget anything.

The Department of Education that 11,327 kids
in the system, plus we have zero to 6 hopefully
we will have in our system it’s easily accessible
database in the future, which, you know, Jane
and | have discussed database and they are
important. And where we are in terms of when
we use the term “referral”, it’s so broad. It
could be the eye team, it could be for the eye
clinic, it could be for hearing. It could be for
medical. It could be for mental health services.
One thing I can tell you at the Department of
Education is that the responsibility of who,
what roles and responsibilities each staff play,

cCof d> PN No<eN=HC LbdbDa®
APYSalo.

ARPS5ab LbdPDat s ASdYSeseNJC <L oa &€
LRLbdS <L APPSo® LbdPD o5 DLy D>se.
PP *o<dP<C a.c<IDA*aSo® Cbdd Acné\C
A OAA®QF®CDC Coa Ao™ [ s
CALAULS®D S SPIRa et AoNeaSos e
deobc o152 ¢ DGHLA<C CAL Acné\®
Ca @ Ha A F®CDC Da
SH>ANSoIGENPdE L2db D5 Clo Y Co“o
> SeNCH>SHeCeDC,

CAL <UPPre <D< ¢ PoI<5>a®

SbA b *a® DPYGSADSHCCe/LLCC CA%a
<QrLsehse <Gsepb| e PSS CAPI<]
DNDLANNC DoYGALDDC DegSodC>e >oIb s,
CAL C®a PUUSDAN ada AS/gse>se pAgh

INDLNNo® ALASbSL*LeNede C o Acn<D¢

AZASd= .

CAPI SBACDc P>®IC Ac dvLC Dv/Gn52C
CASI<c P>®DC <L SbASIroSe CL%a

D POl NPdC. ba Cl Aba AYSbNeb
CAb< PLL®IARC QAT A DL bbb
SHASIRNLTe D Do/ LS. CAL Sbos>
bLPYDLASbSa <L MLE. AYSo* NP5 Ca
D> o%IP 5% > %®dNbP*a*oC. CL*a
AD%N=Hd NNSPZAbCD>®ILLSC NNGSADC
Lo Acnd\C Cod<d DNDL*SNC Dv/Gn bbb
A dPC o sa AYASA N DSCeb Da

ALAC*LSS AJLYG NNSSASY*oC. CALASD™LC

PrJecse<> N NNeba®
I>EC®NNC>e/LI*L > DNDLINC
B> edANC A®b®IAAMNIC DorndbPNa®
NePCNgd®D*L <D< 19N
CALAcCPS®/L*L. CAL™LoC CA%a
Lcliod®N2< JAINbcc DYl CAPd]

/G LCC o o L5 Ac<Sa DN*NC, DR, >

CAbPI DP/SALDC L 5 Shbb*o<IJC CL%a

AD®N=d D 5*0C L% 0 bLMyD>c D/ YL.C

<Lo <*MPNbcce PP oC ICH/D>*MDa®, D>d
<AL AJLY2C Dda LS Acna < 20
CAL*™Lo ¢ A7AGCC.

<

CAL®a Do®NPcc DS/, <L CLOLo <5GJ<

AATON0C bLNcc P/, DC L

91




is very well stipulated in our Education Act so
therefore the school team even is identified to
be consisting of the school principal, vice
principal, teacher, and ultimately when your
child, when your student is registered in a class,
the ultimate responsibility lay on the teacher.
The teacher keeps an accumulative record for
academic progress in a white folder. For
counselling requirements, the counsellor or
school community counsellor holds a blue
folder, so there’s a record of every referral
made on that child. Each individual child who
has a folder, their file is maintained. And a
green folder would be the individualized
students support plan, where the student
support plan put into consideration what’s in
the blue counselling folder, what’s in the white
accumulative folder.

So the plans for the child and any referrals are
kept in this green folder, and based on this, in
one year, in a ten-month academic school year,
four times a year the school team needs to
renew the learning expectation of the individual
support plan or individualized education
programming. It’s every four instances those
referrals are monitored and reviewed. If there
was a referral for eye clinic, did it happen? If it
didn’t happen, how do we expedite it? So in
that context it is very clear whose role and
responsibility fall on referrals and different
types of referrals.

If the chair would allow, I would like Charlotte
Borg to add to my answer. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Please proceed, Ms.
Borg.

Ms. Borg: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Thank you to
the member for that question, and to my DM
for the supplemental opportunity. Just making
sure I’ve got the technology right. Last time |
was here | found it a bit on the challenging
side. Everyone can hear me; thank you.
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We do have an education support services
directive and protocol which lays out the roles
and responsibilities quite clearly to all levels of
education staff. We could look at referrals as
within the department, to our service providers,
and outside the department typically to the
Department of Health or Department of Family
Services. That generally operates at the
community level between our folks at the
community level and at the department. If our
school level staff need additional support to
liaise with Family Services or Health they will
reach out to us mainly the education support
services team at headquarters.

Things are working very well. Particularly in
the last year we’ve seen a lot of gains
interdepartmentally with our students that we
say require tier 4 support, which means they
require intense collaboration between
Education and other departments. So that’s a
good news story for us. | think I’ve covered the
main tenets. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. And although I didn’t
mention Justice specifically, Ms. Ellsworth, did
you want to contribute? One of the things |
think Mr. Simailak is looking at it was
mentioned that there’s often times referrals
interdepartmentally, so Department of Justice
may refer something to Family Services. | am
going to ask specifically with Justice. How do
you make sure that those referrals are followed
up upon? Within the Family Services response,
the social worker themselves is responsible for
following up with Justice, it was mentioned,
but I am trying to think back on the other way.
Ms. Ellsworth.

Ms. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and |
thank the member for the question. I’m going
to talk about our partners, the RCMP, and then
I’m going to talk about community justice, and
then I want to end with Corrections. So firstly,
when we get a referral, it could be from Family
Services or it can be a complaint from the
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school, or a complaint from the health centre
with that collaboration of that government
approach. The RCMP are engaged, and they do
a full investigation, and depending on the
situation will determine the next steps.

For example if a child is referred from Family
Services regarding sexual assault, they will
connect with the Umingmak Centre and they
will do the investigation, and they do that one
stop shop there at the Umingmak Centre. They
do everything, from interviews to DNA testing
and all that stuff. That will determine on the
next steps.

So if the RCMP determine that there is sexual
interference or abuse in play, they will work
with the Public Prosecution Service of Canada,
which is the federal government, to start the
paperwork on charging the person. So if that
child has to go through the court system, then
the RCMP engages our Victim Services section
in Community Justice. And so what our Victim
Services does is the following examples of
services are provided court orientation and
victim accompaniment to court, as well as to
RCMP detachments to make statements;
preparing victim statement; victim registration
with the Correctional Services of Canada and
Parole Board of Canada; notifying victims and
safety planning before the return of the
offenders to their home communities; providing
counselling to additional mental health support;
financial assistance under the Victims Travel
Support Program and Victims of Crime
Emergency.

So then Victim Services also works closely
with the Umingmak Centre. So it goes RCMP,
Umingmak Centre and if we go through the
court system it goes back to the Umingmak
Centre. And then it’s a full circle. So then if for
example a youth was charged and they had to
go through the court system, the victim services
section would still be there to help the youth
through the whole court process. And they
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don’t want to traumatize children and youth so
again, they go back to that Umingmak Centre
to provide the evidence, their supports when
court proceedings are happening. If they don’t
feel comfortable going court, they won’t be
going to the physical courthouse to say their
evidence. There’s a technology that supports in
the Umingmak Centre for them to be able to
provide their statement.

If the child has been charged they will
certainly, either the Public Prosecution and the
RCMP can refer to our Justice committees to
see whether, instead of them going through
incarceration, they will refer them to, so they
don’t have to go to the facility. What they will
do is refer them to an open custody that can
serve in their community, and they have to do
community services or they have to have
counselling services. We try and help them
have better attendance in school. So our
community outreach workers will work with
the youth or with the child to reintegrate them
back into the community to be more of a
positive role model in their community and
showing them that going to school every day is
good for you, playing sports, or referring them
to mental health or elders counselling.

If they do have to come into our Corrections
branch, the facility offers programs to youth
clients to support their rehabilitation and
prepare them for returning to their community.
One of the things that they do are Inuit cultural
skills programs. Life skills officer teaches core
programs such as anger management, skills
training, substance abuse, among others.
Counselling, education. So they like to tutor
and instruct from Department of Education
teachers. Physical activities in the community.
The aquatic centre. The high school. Gym.
Hockey arena. The turf skate park, and they
also encourage them to cook and do some
sewing.
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And so the clients’ needs information of the
rehabilitation program provided while they are
at the facility, as well as the plan for their
eventual release, the youth and their family are
involved in discussions about the release of
their plan focussing on what is the best interest
of the child and their successful reintegration
back into the community.

So those are sort of some of the things that are
referred to Justice, and these are some of the
programs and services that we provide. Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Next name | have on
my list, Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair, | would
just like to go to the Representative for
Children and Youth on this issue, and the
terminology that you used as coordination and
not necessarily collaboration. On page 51 we
see under your annual report on individual
advocacy activities for 2023-2024, two of the
general themes fit in with this discussion,
which is service coordination between
departments and failure to investigate child
protection concerns. I’m sure there are more,
but if we could, inconsistent access to services.

| just feel like right now would be a really good
times, Ms. Bates, for you to chime into this
discussion. We’ve heard about what the
policies and protocol state should happen; we
know that we have faith that our public servants
are doing their best to follow through on their
commitments. However, what we’re hearing
from you is somewhat of a different story. So if
you could talk to us about this issue | would
appreciate it. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Bates.
Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and |

thank the member for allowing me the
opportunity to comment on this.
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As | understand, the question was how do you
ensure there’s follow-up as being the baseline.
So for me that’s quality assurance, largely. So a
referral is made, what happens to that referral.
Currently that is, as you can see, a lot of the
concerns that we see from an individual
advocacy perspective are about that very thing,
the follow-up mechanism. So if a young person
requires potentially need of protection, what
was the follow-up when the referral went in?
Did the investigation happen? What was the
outcome of that investigation?

| can tell you that that’s an ongoing issue, that
we have seen with individual advocacy cases is
that whole issue around the follow-up piece.
Often it’s a matter what is often cited as
confidentiality, privacy of information, I can’t
tell you what the follow-up was because it’s
confidential.

I do know in some jurisdictions, particularly in
child welfare legislation some departments
have taken on putting in a clause right into the
act that says you have to confirm with the
referent source that you did follow up. It’s
called a reporting back clause. And certainly on
a go-forward basis for the Department of
Family Services, | would definitely encourage,
recommend that they look at that type of
mechanism. | completely understand the issues
around confidentiality, but you can still provide
follow-up, if you will, or confirm that you did
follow up without releasing confidential
information.

One of the other issues that we see in individual
advocacy cases, and certainly we saw it
recently in a critical injury review that we did,
and it talks about it here, is the coordination or
collaboration between departments on various,
on follow-up, largely. So there’s an issue in
front of us concerning a young person and
departments have to collaborate, have to
communicate to serve that child, youth, and
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their family. And this is an ongoing issue that
we have seen, where the individual advocates
will have to step in and get the departments
together to start talking so that they are
collectively providing those services.

Another issue that we have identified is the
issue of one department not understanding the
role and responsibility of another department.
So for the Department of Family Services they
have very specific legal parameters by which
they need to work, right. If a child is in need of
protection, they can deliver services; when they
can bring a child into the director’s care; when
they can act on their behalf as a guardian. And
one of the issues that we have been seeing, and
it speaks to collaboration and it speaks to
follow-up, is that one department may feel that
the Department of Family Services should be
stepping in and exercising an authority under
the Act which they cannot do because it doesn’t
fall within the legal parameters. That child is
not in need of protection. They are in need of
services, but they are not in need of protection.
Very different.

So it in terms of follow-up | can safely say that
it’s an issue, and | think that that quality
assurance mechanism needs to be put in for
every department, and a coordinated case
management system, and | hate to use the word
“system”. You have to have coordinated case
management so that everybody, and that relies
on good communication between the
departments and back to the public, back to the
person receiving the services.

And | see that as quite a central issue that we
see quite a bit inside a lot of the cases and a lot
of the systemic issues that we’ve been
reviewing. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and
thank you very much for that response, Ms.

AcnoncbeC®/Ly o CAL™L

Nsepc DL C 2018-To ¢ >l le, sdv*al®

AP/QPCSe OLANJ): T ADSDLC

APAD>C OLNANYO): Sd*al™®, Ab/RPCSe,
Sgv*al s LebaDsen <JANLLE CALES.
o< nbcod, <cPbdc
Ac_D>SbCP>SHECSdLG b LIOALKCAC®
CALAJLP<C LDOA*LENLGLSeDJC
ASBC>NPLNC JANSbA<ISbSLSeP

QA PEC>NLLY M a L <*NsebC PP<loDLYS*LC.
Sgoal™®, Ab/RPCSe,

Ab/<XPCSe (OLMNJO): C C AYD
AP (ORNNUC): Sdy2al®, Ab/RDCSb,

<*NeCP>J*a*dacd? AbCPJ*a.c*LC
JPNENNKSoN bNLro.

L PLLDAN SGUCLSYD>NIT DobodlMo™Ne

AGL*a>SHEC®I 0 A% S0¢ ADOADANS
AGLECDSHECS+LC AJEDPCP>SbCs*LC

M AP LE 5N 5% DShD> Db C,
Lo P> WUNAC A N®CDILIYAC 627

A AgSeNe 5be ¢ SHLCE 223-UNHNe
AANSPHPLY*L Cbdd AH*aNd 627
A5G <IN/ YAC AYNSbSehE
SdoSa <o, sdyeal™®, Ab/RDCSe,

Ab/RQCSe OLANJY): T ADSDC,

ADS>C (OLNANJO): Sduyal™®, Ab/RDCSe,
Sgb®al s LN JANLLE CAL®.

NNG®YL*a® Pondndbiad®Ctb A COl®

D>Sb®eC<AGL DNSANYa c_®PIC PyJa<IJC
PD><%a ¢ SeP. Sdh%al®, AbY/RPCSe,

A>/PCSe (ONMNJO): Sdy*al™
CALAJ*@o<doGGae. M CAYD®.

cCASYDe ORNN): SdY*al™ <*NGAC. CALc

O NCPAC DPPeb o PNNo® oo cCNJ*LoNe

OIS dg NSepse ¢ Sed
Sd_o¥*a<eC>SHECHOIMGC APIC A HNC?
sgbeal®, AbYRPCSe,

98




Bates. | would just like to go back to the
Department of Family Services. One thing that
you did miss mentioning right now is the new
Client Services program that you have. I’'m a
big fan of Client Services. | know with the
Department of Health, Patient Relations, Office
of Patient Relations they are very connected to
the Quality Assurance folks within the
department.

I would like to hear more about how the
Department of Family Services envisions using
this client services program in order to
obviously improve individual access, improve
the ability for people to be able to advocate for
their friends or family members, children,
community, and then of course how the
department plans to learn from the number of
people that are in contact with that client
services portal, program, whatever, your office.
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. I’ll
speak to this briefly, and then | may ask Ms.
Rogers to supplement my response, Mr. Chair.
Family Services established a Client Relations
Office to support families with concerns about
family wellness services. Currently it is directly
relative to wellness. We plan to expand that
service to the other divisions as we begin to
better understand how this functions.

Currently we are helping Nunavummiut
confidentially with questions and concerns
related to child protection, residential care, or
service delivery generally. It is operated by an
individual who’s on the desk. Our service
standard is acknowledge response within two
business days, with a final response and
outcome within 14 business days, Mr. Chair.
The service is accessible both by telephone at
1-844-FWCHILD, or 392-4453. The e-mail
address is yourvoicematters@gov.nu.ca.
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This is a function of the Director of Family
Services and it tags alongside recently
established quality assurance personnel. So at
this point, Mr. Chair, if you’ll allow, I’ll ask
Ms. Rogers to supplement that response to
identify what we aim to learn from this, and
how we will use that information moving
forward. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Rogers.

Ms. Rogers: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and thank
you, Member, for the question. Excuse me if |
sound nervous, because | am. This new
program that we’ve developed is extremely
important. | also see it as not only liaising with
the quality assurance team, but it is also a
mechanism for quality assurance. The social
worker that is assigned to that role is going to,
when a complaint comes in, does look at a file
through compliance with standards,
responsiveness to the complainant or the person
making the referral, a response to the RCMP if
there are potential criminal charges that does
need to be followed up with. So it’s another
layer of quality assurance.

And it also allows us to be transparent in that
we will be able to report back to the legislature
about what those complaints coming in. And it
also helps to paint a picture for both the
statutory director and I, the compliance with
standards. | mean, everyone knows that our
investigations are not where they need to be.
Practice is not where it needs to be. So this is
going to help me to drive the momentum, keep
the momentum going towards us improving.
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Rogers. Ms.
Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you. | just want to let
you know, I’m always super nervous, too. |
mean, but | feel like I’m a little bit like a duck
on water where you can’t tell, but I really am
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every time this red light turns on, so you’re not
alone.

One of the questions that | have about this
Client Relations Program is what sort of data is
going to be collected about the people that are
actually reaching out to that office. The reason
| ask is because we know that with the Office
of Patient Relations that collecting data about
who is calling, by their gender, by their age by
their relationship to the clients that they are
advocating for, and by their community and
region. It gives us a really good picture about
specifically about who the advocates are, who
the natural advocates are regarding health
issues for our population. And potentially that
gives us an opportunity to be able to, if we’ve
got an issue of concern, you know, if it is
vaccine hesitancy, we know that these certain
groups of people are excellent advocates that
impact the health of our citizens. So we can
direct information towards those specific
groups in order to share more information.

Having said all of that, what sort of data is
being collected that informs us about who is
interacting with, who will be interacting with
the Client Relations Office; to date, how much
uptake has there been; where are they from;
how often are they calling. Are you going to
ask them, are you also in contact with the
Office of Patient Relations for any reason.
There’s all sorts of information to be mined
here, so | would like to hear a little bit more
about that. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Mr.
Chair, this program is of course brand,
spanking new and in advantages of launching it
we were cognizant of the reality that there
could be a deluge of various complaints and
concerns registered. At the present time we
want to populate what that data set will look
like, including names of complainants, their
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location, their relation to the subject matter, the

nature of their complaint, what the turnaround
time is for responding to that complaint.

It will likely follow a lot of the similar data that

we are collecting for persons receiving
services, for example.

As the member correctly pointed out, this will
give us insights into not only sort of some of

the champions, if you will, in terms of bringing

these kinds of issues to light, but also will
really give us some clear insights into where
gaps in service delivery exist, recognizing that,
as Bernadine correctly pointed out, we are still
struggling to achieve compliance with
standards and we are still struggling to achieve
investigative compliance, and various other
mechanisms.

So the import of this role together with the
launch of our quality assurance folks and the
quality assurance access role in the database
that we launched will altogether provide
valuable information and insights with respect
to resource allocation, program delivery,
enhancements in areas where we need to
provide better focus on. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you for that. I’'m
wondering if there are any specific privacy
concerns that might have cropped up that are
being addressed in any way. Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Yes,
depending on the nature of the complaint and

the complainant, the Child and Family Services

Act has very specific sections of the legislation
that provide for who has access to certain

information, the director. So certainly there will

be times where a citizen sees a situation,
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perhaps a social worker engaging
inappropriately — this is like a theoretical — and
they have concerns with that. We will accept
their complaint and advise that we will respond
accordingly. However, because of the
provisions in the act, we won’t be able to
disclose exactly what steps were taken to
address their complaint, and so we have to be
cognizant of not only the relevant provisions of
the Access to Information and Protection of
Privacy Act, but also the greater confidentiality
that is attracted by the Child and Family
Services Act. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Does
current legislation allow for reporting to the
Representative For Children and Youth at year
end about the number of calls and the nature of
the calls to the office, or the client relations
office? And does it also allow for reporting and
general terms to the members of the Legislative
Assembly, and will there be such a report.
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Mr.
Chair, two parts to that question. The
Representative for Children and Youth Act
provides broad access to information in the
hands of the government. I suspect we will be
getting inquiries with regard to the nature and
frequency of complaints being received through
our recently published client relations function.
There’s nothing that precludes the department
from providing that information to the
representative.

The second part | suspect, and | will commit
today, Mr. Chair, that those details will be
shared with this Assembly, maybe not these
members — hopefully some of these members,
but certainly we will be collecting those data
statistics in the director’s annual report that is
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required under the Child and Family Services
Regulations. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and
thank you for that response. | know we were
talking earlier about individual advocacy. |
would just like to go back to, and I don’t know
if, sometimes I’m busy writing and | don’t hear
everything. | don’t recall whether or not
anybody talked to the Representative for
Children and Youth about on page 3 of her
opening statements. She stated that her office
issued its first ever summons to the Director of
Child and Family Services over the period
that’s being reported on. 1 would like to ask if
Ms. Bates can talk to us about that. Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you to the member for the
opportunity to speak about the summons that
we issued. | want to start by saying that | don’t
believe that a summons will likely be required
in the near future, because the summons was
issued under a different, I’ll call it
administration leadership at the time when we
issued it. It was in direct relation to a systemic
matter that we were looking into, particularly
out of territory and out-of-territory placement
of some young people.

We had made the request. We had notified
under the Representative for Children and
Youth Act, and also in accordance with a
Government of Nunavut and Representative for
Children and Youth protocol. Any time we are
going to review a matter there is a requirement
that | notify the department that we are going to
undertake a review, whether it be individual
advocacy case, a systemic case, or review of a
critical injury or death. So we had issued such a
notice to the department in August that we were
going to undertake a review of the matter.
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Again it was related to a few young people who
were in an outside-territorial placement.

What had happened is over the course of from
about August to October, after many, many
requests, that was lot of correspondence back
and forth, the director took the position that the
information that we had requested had been
provided. As the Act sets out, it is up to the
representative to determine what information is
required to complete a review, and | was not
satisfied that the information provided was
complete or that we were provided the
information that we requested.

In turn, I turned, because a summons has never
been issued before, I actually had to query my
colleagues across Canada to see if this had ever
been done before, and no other office had
issued a summons to a department. We have
legal counsel, who undertake to figure out how
this should be done, and it was a good process
in a lot of ways, to get an understanding of how
we needed to do this.

Again, during that period of time, | want to say
there was again quite a bit of correspondence
between myself and the department to say, this
is the road that I’m heading down if | don’t
receive the information that I’m requesting, and
it was answers to specific questions about, |
need a specific information that | was
requesting.

Basically we got to a place where | sent a final
letter, correspondence, and said please provide
me this information. If you do not, I will issue a
summons. Subsequently we ended up issuing
the summons. | believe it was in October,
October 19 and in turn our legal counsel then,
using several questions, the information we
wished to obtain under oath, examined the
Director of Child and Family Services and we
obtained the information that we were looking
for. In addition to that, during the course of that
proceeding — it was almost two full days — there
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were several undertakings that were agreed to.
So documents that said will the department
provide us this and so undertaking was made,
and | think we had upwards of 20 of them by
the time we were done.

We had just resolved I think all of the
undertakings by the end of this fiscal year.
That’s really why we went down the road of a
summons, and | truly, truly believe that that
probably will not occur in the future, given the
current leadership and the current relationship
that we have with the Department of Family
Services. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you for that response.
Just for clarity, speaking of being nervous, I
failed to state that that was on page 58 of the
Representative for Children and Youth’s annual
report. The last sentence on that box says that
as of March 31, 2024 work is going on with the
Department of Family Services regarding this
review. | am just wondering if that is
completely closed off or if it is still, it has been
almost a month since March 31. Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank
you for the question. The review that we’re
specifically talking about, we haven’t closed it
completely. Again, it was specific to a specific
out-of-territory placement, but a lot of the
information that we obtained during the
summons pertained to other out-of-territory
reviews that we were doing. So again, we need
to close this one out and write a report on it and
a lot of that information also will pertain to
some other reviews that we are completing.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.
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Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. I am
really happy to hear, Ms. Bates, that you feel
that this probably won’t happen again. | think
it’s really important to acknowledge the
progress that’s being made by the Department
of Family Services, in terms of the work that
they’re doing. So | would like to give the
Department of Family Services the opportunity
to respond to this issue. From the perspective of
Family Services why was a summons necessary
to compel Family Services to provide the
requested information on that issue? Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Thank
you for that important question, and I’m
grateful for the representative’s sentiments
around not necessarily needing to use that
process to compel disclosures of evidence
necessary for the purposes of our reviews.

| would say that during the relevant and
material time the department had just begun a
major transformation, and while I can’t speak
to the reasons previous statutory appointment
holders would have withheld that information, |
can say that when it was brought to my
attention | took several actions to ensure that
that would not occur again.

Although | had been within the department as a
deputy minister on a short secondment from
May until October, it was around that time |
was contracted as the proper deputy minister.
At which point shortly before Ms. Rogers came
on line, we also appointed Mr. O’Donnell into
the role of statutory director. My direction to
them is that we need to improve our
relationship with the representative, provide
any documentation that we have, along with all
of the other major systemic improvements that
needed to be undertaken within that
department, recognizing not only the findings
of the Representative for Children and Youth
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and recommendations over the course of many
years, but also the Office of the Auditor
General report.

| won’t go into details with respect to
employment matters, but | will say that | took
necessary steps to ensure that improvements
were being made immediately thereafter, and as
our relationship grew and Ms. Bates assisted
me in understanding the import of open and
free disclosure of information to inform her
review. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you for that response. I’ll
just step back to Ms. Bates. Your office’s work
in systemic advocacy involves identifying root
causes in systems designed to support young
people in making recommendations for
improvements to those systems. Table 10 on
page 58 of your 2023-2024 annual report
provides a breakdown of how 46 new systemic
issues were referred to your office with more
than half of those issues identified through your
office’s activities. Why do you think so few
systemic issues are identified by such other
sources as service providers or community
members? Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and
thank you for that very good question. | think
that’s an excellent question and one that I truly
have not pondered. But to say that, | honestly
don’t have an answer why we’re mainly
receiving systemic issues or identifying
systemic issues largely through the individual
advocacy program. I can say that | don’t —
perhaps it’s a matter of we haven’t
communicated out to the public well enough
that you can refer systemic issues to us. | can
say this fiscal year 1’ve certainly received more
phone calls directly from the public about
systemic issues, so | think you’re going to see a
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slightly higher number coming from sources
outside of our work.

| can say that the Legislative Assembly often
provides me with, | watch it quite frequently,
and | pick up quite a few when 1I’m watching
the Legislative Assembly as to all of the staff,
so | think you’ll see an uptake in it for this
particular fiscal year. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and
thank you, Ms. Bates, for reminding us that
there are even more people watching us than in
this room. I’m going to work back and I’'ll go
back to page 57. Your office’s process for
addressing systemic issues is described on page
57 of your report. How does your office
prioritize which systemic issues to focus on at
any given time? Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Get used to the clock as well. Ms.
Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and |
thank the member for the question. It’s also a
very good one, how we prioritize systemic
issues. So as indicated in this annual report, one
of the major undertakings of this fiscal year
was to really review the systemic program.
Historically what had happened was we would
identify a systemic issue and we would log it
into our systemic database which is a year-
over-year accumulation of issues. And until
Our Minds Matter happened, which was prior
to me, they largely stayed there unaddressed, or
we would prioritize them but a lot of them were
prioritized in what | call big system, so they
would require a big undertaking to review a
system. Like Our Minds Matter, a mental
health system.

Again, we decided that this wasn’t really
serving a purpose. | felt that that’s why we did
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a review of the database. We went into the
database that we had, we went through every
single thing that had ever been reported to us,
and we started saying is this relevant to today.
Some of them were really old and some of
them should be combined. So that’s why we
did the database review.

From that, we talked about how do we respond
more quickly. And this also corresponded with
consultation with our legal counsel, because
there was some question around could we only
do what I call big system reviews, and legal
counsel said no, no, it’s clear in the Act that
you can do systemic issues such as adoption
processes. So that’s one of the issues that we’ve
been looking at, and we identified that as a
systemic issue.

So how do we prioritize them? Truthfully, often
if they come in from individual advocacy cases
we often prioritize them as high priority. Of
course, staffing comes into play here, in terms
of I have to have enough systemic researchers
to address them, and we also do what’s called
complex file reviews. That’s also new this past
year, and you can see the results of one of our
complex file reviews.

So we prioritize the issues that come in through
the individual advocacy, because they are
usually, again, depending on what it is,
certainly housing is one of these issues that we
are not going to solve and to do a review of that
size would take years and I’m not sure it’s not
something that we would undertake. But in
terms of smaller systems ones that are directly
impacting young people right now, that’s how
we have been prioritizing them. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.
Ms. Brewster: Thank you. I’m really excited

because | see 15 minutes on the clock again.
Ms. Bates, do you ever prioritize based on
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consequence of error, in terms of the harm that
can be done by the system to the individual?
Consequences of the impact in terms of how
many people something would impact? Do you
look at different age cohorts in terms of who is
being impacted? Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and |
thank you for the question. We do prioritize.
The younger the person the more vulnerable
they are, so that often does figure into our
decisions when we review a matter. Certainly
on the individual advocacy side, whatever is
referred to us we are reviewing and getting
involved in. There is no prioritizing there. In
the systemic program you two kind of elements
there. You have the systemic issues and you
also have critical injuries and deaths, and | can
tell you we just operationalized that program
and trying to figure out what to prioritize in that
program is very, very difficult, because to me
it’s all a priority. They are all very pressing
issues, and I think it’s really important that we
are in a constant state of examining what we
did, how we did it, and did it contribute to what
happened to the young people in this territory.

So again, | often, we often look on the systemic
side around the younger the person is, the more
vulnerable they are, the higher risk they are.
Also, again, the world of child protection
particularly has taken a priority for our office.
So the Department of Family Services or where
we see processes, because we believe that that
directly affects the framework and the action
plan and the work that they need to do on a go-
forward basis. So we had been prioritizing a lot
of systemic issues that directly relate to the
Department of Family Services for that reason,
because of the situation of Family Services
being in a crisis. | hope that answers your
question. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman: Thank you. Before | go to the next
name on my list, I’ll recognize the clock and
we’ll take a 15-minute break.

>>Committee recessed at 15:24 and resumed
at 15:41

Chairman: Thank you. I would like to call the
committee meeting back to order. The next
name | have on my list, Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. I’ve got
questions remaining for the Department of
Justice, Education, and Health and | would like
to start off with the Department of Justice.

| agree with the Representative for Children
and Youth; even without Department of Family
Services’ ability to provide referrals on child
sexual abuse, it is safe to say that we are at
crisis levels. And in the deputy minister’s
opening comments she spoke to the RCMP’s
special investigation team and how they assist
in investigating crimes involving sexual
violence against children and youth. And
assuming they are quite busy, I would like to
ask why the department did not bring a
representative from the RCMP, or more
specifically the RCMP’s special investigative
team to be here today. Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Ellsworth.

Ms. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and
thank you to the member for that question. We
thought it would be better to get the
information from the RCMP through meetings
or e-mails or largely through briefing notes, and
so we thought we could represent the RCMP
through that communication process. However,
if this committee would like to see members of
the RCMP in the future, we would be open to it
and we would certainly welcome them and ask
them to come in and attend at these televised
hearings. Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. Thank you.
| think that would be a very great addition to
the discussions, having the RCMP Special
Investigations Team here to provide responses
in person. But as the Department of Family
Services is unable to collate the referrals
involving child sexual abuse over the last 26
years, | would like to ask if the deputy minister
would be able to commit to provide the
committee with a summary of the RCMP’s
Special Investigations Team’s activities since it
was created in 2018. And again, by fiscal year.
Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Ellsworth.

Ms. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and |
thank the member for the question. First and
foremost | certainly would like to engage with
the RCMP and ask them if this is something
that they would be open to, and if they are, we
certainly would be open to providing that
information to you. So first I have to ask. |
would like to ask for permission. | don’t want
to say yes, but we can get back to you on that.
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. Thank you,
| hope that you will get the appropriate
approval to share that information with the
committee.

On page 33 of the representative’s annual
report it discusses crimes against young people
and includes charges laid against adults with an
offence against a young person, which did see a
sharp increase which was touched upon earlier.
This most recent statistic of 627 is a significant
increase from the prior year’s 223. So the first
question 1 would like to ask, are all of these 627
charges involving sexual abuse? Thank you,
Chair.
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Chairman: Ms. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair and |
thank the member for the question. I will have
to go back onto my notes because | don’t want
to provide you with the wrong information. Can
| get back to the committee on that specific
question? Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you for that commitment.
Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you for that
commitment. And just to add, when you seek
that information, can you also provide the
committee with a community-by-community
breakdown of all charges of sexual abuse
against minors. Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Ellsworth.

Ms. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. | thank
the member for the question. Absolutely. Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. Thank you
again for that commitment. As was previously
mentioned, convictions of sexual abuse against
minors has a very, very low rate. The majority,
I mean, it’s my understanding that its difficult
to get youth victims to provide accurate and
reliable, I can’t recall the word that I’m looking
for, but appropriate evidence necessary to lay a
conviction. Can the deputy minister talk a bit
about the rates of convictions of child sexual
abuse in the territory. Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Ellsworth.

Ms. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and |
thank the member for the question. According
to the RCMP, as of March 6, 2025 there are
426 offenders registered in Nunavut, of whom
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78 were non-compliant with their reporting
requirements; and there are 22 high-risk
offenders, four of who were non-compliant
with their reporting requirements. So non-
compliance with reporting does not necessarily
indicate that the RCMP is unable to locate the
offender, or that the offender is unintentionally
avoiding their reporting obligations. However,
in most cases, the offenders registration had
simply expired and they have to report
requirements once reminded or notified by the
RCMP So once they are notified, they are back
on track. The RCMP will investigate the
circumstances and may pursue charges further

if they don’t continue to report. Thank you, Mr.

Chair.
Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. | was
actually asking about the conviction rate, when
a charge is laid against someone for sexual
abuse against a minor. It’s rare or very difficult
to end in a conviction. So that’s why | was
asking about the conviction rate in Nunavut.

| would like to move on. You mentioned that
there’s 22 high-risk sex offenders in the
testimony and that’s a reduction from 24 last
year. Can you provide us with some
information about that reduction. Is that
reduction in two high risk sex offenders due to
death or deceased or moving out of territory or
being incarcerated? Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Ellsworth.

Ms. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair and |
thank the member for the question. My
apologies for the first question you just
previously asked in terms of when, how long
the process is for someone to be charged under
those circumstances. It all depends on the
situation and how long the investigation takes,
and again, | cannot provide a timeline.
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In terms of why there’s less, | would have to go
back to the RCMP and ask them for that
information. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Ms. Ellsworth.
Last question on high risk sex offenders. How
many of the 22 high risk sex offenders have
convictions for assault against minors? And
second part of that question is how many times
do they have to offend minors before they get
labelled as high risk sex offenders? Thank you,
Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you Mr. Chair, and |
thank the member for the question. Again |
have to go to the RCMP to get that information
and get back to the committee. Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you. Much appreciated.

Last question for the Department of Justice. |
heard a very alarming matter come to my
attention recently, and that was a child sexual
predator who was released from Nunavut
Corrections, was released into the same home
as their victim, which is a very, very
concerning. So | would like to ask can the
deputy minister elaborate, how often are child
sexual predators released from Corrections and
placed into the homes of their victims? Thank
you, Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Ellsworth.

Ms. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and |
thank the member for that question. I don’t
have that level of detail with me, but we can
certainly bring that back to the committee with
the other obligations that we have. Thank you,
Mr. Chair.
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Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Ellsworth. I think
it might be worth, as you’re gathering that
information, to find out what conditions would
enable or allow somebody convicted to be put
back into the same household as the victim,
how that could come about, under what
parameters. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you for all those
commitments. | would like to move on to the
Department of Health.

| would like to thank the deputy minister for
providing information statistics on the number
of teen pregnancies in the territory over the last
four years in response to this exercise we had
last year. The information provided showed a
percentage of births to teen mothers in Nunavut
has been as high as 18.9 per cent, and
meanwhile the national average is four out of
every thousand, or 0.4 per cent.

So it is quite an alarming figure as well, the rate
of teen pregnancies, and the fact that there are
even 12- and 13-year-olds in those figures.
However, it does indicate that the numbers
provided only accounts for live pregnancies and
does not include outcomes such as abortion and
miscarriage.

I would like to ask the deputy minister to be
able to commit to providing updated
information for the last five years, beyond just
the live pregnancies but also including separate
figures for abortions and miscarriages for teen
pregnancies. Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt: Qujannamiik, Mr. Chairman, and
thank you to the member for the question. The
department will definitely take that under an
advisement. | just want to offer a bit of context
to that, Mr. Chair. When it comes to things like
miscarriages in general, often if it doesn’t
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require some form of medical attention, women
or youth or children often do not present to a
health centre or a medical facility, so the
information, if we did track and provide that,
likely wouldn’t be great data. Many women
will have or young people will have a
miscarriage and not know that they are even
pregnant. And so it may be assumed that it is
their menstrual cycle, or getting their menstrual
cycle, something like that.

In terms of abortions, we don’t track that for
part of our reporting data. That information
would be in Meditech in personal health
records, which would require us to do an in-
depth review. It’s something that we can
consider, so I’ll definitely take that under
advisement. Qujannamiik.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you for that response.
I’m of course just trying to look for a more
wholesome picture of the whole issue of teen
pregnancies, and | do note that on page 12 of
the representative’s annual report the statistics
on teen pregnancies for 2023 is not included.
Do you have that figure of how many teen
pregnancies there were in the fiscal year of this
annual report? Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt: Qujannamiik Mr. Chairman, and
thank you for the question. | don’t have that
number in front of me, but | know that we are
organizing 2023-24 data so | will bring that
back through our communication.
Qujannamiik.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. Returning
to the topic of child sexual abuse, again, | look
forward to the day that the government and

Department of Family Services can accurately
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capture that information. But in the meantime, |
think it’s only the Department of Health and the
RCMP that have some form of accurate
information. So would the deputy minister
commit to providing information about the
number of child sexual abuse cases which
involved medical professional health
examinations for the last few fiscal years?
Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and
thank you to the member for the question. | just
want to make sure that | understand the
question. The member is asking that any
treatment or referral for a sexual abuse case be
reported and provided? | just want make sure |
had that right? Thank you for the clarification.

| would like to go back to the team to look at
ways that we can consider the ability to provide
that information, one, maintaining privacy and
confidentiality. | have no idea of the numbers.
It may be more of a territorial picture versus a
community picture, given the importance of
less than five in sharing information. So we’ll
go back and look at that and come back through
our information or our follow-up from this
session with a response. Qujannamiik.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you for that response.
Territory-wide information would be adequate.
Again, I have been trying to get these numbers
out of the government for years, and | think it
would be very valuable for the committee and
the territory to know the true extent to which
Health examines victims of child sexual abuse.
And in addition, it would be nice if you could
highlight which communities have higher rates
than others. Of course, | don’t think that would
be a breach of the rule of five, but I think it
would be very relevant information.

0CGe: sgheqf® AP/RDC®,  Sdh*als ™
<A, ONMNJC®DD) Aceo<®NIC Ac_*abdC
ACSNARCCDS, AbYsdND>L 52 gC
ASN<ELECHPLLC Ao <N oS, <*N¥dh >
D>eaSHLAH S 5 NN®bNJ“
bNLsbNsbse 5NV Sb.oAc¥b*MN®Io.
AD>PIALQ SPAC APPSC CAL®a
AbICDEN<LE Coa. Q¥ LbAL>I®?
QPSSR TbP o< Q¢ n<PhSe,

ORNMNJRPFeI%) T HAA® 01 JA®INNSHSL
CAL%*a. Cbd< CdSbCCeAZDY DNSHECSeCLbI Db
CLbd <Ly PSbeb>e %L Cbd<d ACHARS,
ACSARS AbINNC ASbba ALSe\C

N> DL gD CCSLC APPSaC. APPse
O%BHIATQ *LSHECH®I® N> >J| v Peg|,
NSbpLbhg e/ LLC, % <L >dse
Sb_oAHGAb HIPN 5N NP> *PLLC.
SboSc Abb*g P <C I+ b L >IC,
ACNbb P %< C L M o?  Sdhal®,
AbYRPCsb,

Ab/QPCSe (ONANJO): Sdy*al™. ™ HAA® .

HdA%o0: sdv-*al®, AYRPCS, sdyeal 0.
CLea AASINNR 5, 15GJc >®Ire L
2o <do 5GJ QA®ADC>C PPIYC ALLC
Ac®o<SOLIC o%bsheCeIC Sh DL *LC
MehASHCCHPLL*LENJ 0<SbeCCG 5D C
Ao <AL o%bTHEC®IC PN NCI] 5 g C
ANNSHSHECLC. <Ll o%bc >SeDINC

D>NPeQ ®<EP 5N PN®CST>NC AN SNC
NoPSHECH Q. € DabbbdC.

PP<do JA®INE Aca<senN ACNLDC>N<LE
ACKAR OC DR H*GC Ac®agdé\*c ¢
Ab¥N 0t P Jsp®I® ASbha A<
LRLED* 0% A%ba A*d* of A,

N> D> CCShEC®I% union—d*M*of. CLST
ACNARYIC 00 2C€ Teacher Association—
SHECH®>C N>gb®IC ACNANC, <Ll
N>%g<eNbE ASPba AL®NE Nunavut
Employees Union—"Jao G*C><T".

>RJC Ac*odocnrbdt APY ot <L
AcCSAP O bo**MNL™®IMC Ao b dLNJ

119




Last question for the Department of Health.
With all of the statistics on health of young
people in Nunavut, there’s a lot of information,
but there was no information on the numbers of
sexually transmitted infections. Would the
deputy minister be able to update the
committee about that situation. Thank you,
Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman (interpretation ends) Qujannamiik to
the member for the question. | can update you
on our 2023 data. We are completing our 2024
data. On the pediatric side for chlamydia in the
age group zero to five, seven. In the age group
six to 11, zero. In the age group 12 to 16, 127.
For gonorrhea, for the age range of 11 to zero,
it is less than five. And for the age range from
12 to 16, it’s 51 for a total of 193 cases of
sexually transmitted infections.

That does not include, and we are continuing to
work through the data on syphilis. Syphilis can
be acquired in two ways. It can be congenital,
which means that it’s through transmission in
the birthing process, or from the mom, and the
other is acquired, which may be related to
sexual abuse, but it can also be related to sexual
activity, given that pediatrics is a continuum of
zero to 18. And it could also be from assault as
well. So | hope that answered your question.
Qujannamiik.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. Thank you
for those responses. | would like to point my
last questions to the Department of Education.
Last year | brought up the topic of teen
pregnancy and the need to really provide
additional supports to ensure that the young
mother and the newborn do not become at risk
of depending on social services for in the long
term. So | would like to ask what progress has
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been made by the Department of Education
over the last year in this area. Thank you,
Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Hainnu.

Ms. Hainnu: Thank you, Chair. | thank the
member for the question. If | recall this
conversation was in November. Just giving you
the timeline that it was so recently ago, it is a
very important and shocking information that
we received at the last session, and stats that we
share here are very helpful in coming up with
action plans, tasking our departmental staff.
The Department of Education is contributing to
the framework for the sexual abuse action plan
lead by Family Services. We will continue to
contribute to the action plan, commit to actions
to prevent sexual abuse.

Key departmental potential actions include
developing age-appropriate sex education
curriculum in schools for all children and
youth, support updating current training and
participate in new training for school staff,
participate in necessary information sharing
with other service providers. In the past since
the representative for children and youth has
only been in existence since 2015, they weren’t
well received at the gate of the school because
the school staff were protecting information
and protecting the children, and so there has
been some learning that have occurred.

And so we share information in addition to
continuing to work to support the development
of after-school programs on safe spaces for
children, in addition to sharing information
about young parents day learning, so that youth
who already have children can access this
information, and preventative measures of teen
pregnancy. That’s only a scratch what have
we’ve begun to do. But the timeline for
advertising more or informing young parents
day learning is to be done before the academic
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year of 2025-2026, so between now and June.
Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you. Earlier you
touched upon the duty to report, which of
course is a very important aspect of child
protection. Does the Department of Education
currently monitor and track the rate at which
teachers report child abuse? Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Hainnu.

Ms. Hainnu: Thank you, Chair. | thank the
member for that question. Not just on duty to
report child abuse, but any abuse, any
suspected abuse. In fact, recently an employee
file occurred that an employee who neglected
to do so was terminated, so we do take duty to
report very seriously. We expect our staff with
that received disclosure and information to act
immediately and to work with
interdepartmental commitments that we’ve had,
the information sharing. And so we do track
them and we do hold them to the highest
standards in the same way we do ourselves.
Thank you.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you for that response.
I’m glad to hear that department takes the duty
to report very, sorry, wholeheartedly, and to the
extent of termination for failure to comply. Can
you talk to us about how often teachers are
complying with the duty to report in a given
year. Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Hainnu.

Ms. Hainnu: Thank you, Chair. | thank the
member for the question. This would be hard to
come down to the specificity of an actual
number, because an incident may be reported
three or four times, or more, depending on if it
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happened to a child. Let’s say something
happened in grade 3 and they recalled this
information, they redisclose it year after year.
So this may be a skewed data.

That being said, it is encouraged that anybody
receiving disclosure report it, regardless. And
so this would be very a grey area for us. I’m
sorry if I caused more questions than providing
the answer. Qujannamiik.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. | seem to
have utilized my time very well because this is
my last question and it is with regards to the
violent reporting incidents mechanism that the
Department of Education has. On page 17 of
the representative’s annual report it shows that
the figure fluctuates considerably, a high of
1,060 to last year’s 180. But my question is
specifically with regards to sexual incidents,
which is highlighted in the report, which did
see a high of 19 sexual incidents reported and a
low of last year’s four.

My question is going to be about student-on-
student sexual incidents. One alarming issue
that | heard was when an instance of sexual
violence of student on student occurred, the
perpetrator and the victim had to remain in the
same class. Can you confirm whether or not
this actually happens, if students are not
separated after a sexual incident, and whether
or not there’s a specific policy regarding that.
Thank you, Chair.

Chairman (Ms. Brewster): Thank you, Mr.
Lightstone. Ms. Hainnu.

Ms. Hainnu: Thank you, Chair, and thank you

new Chair. I thank the member for the question.

So we do have 45 schools, and each of the 45
schools are run partially by policies and bylaws
that are created through the district education
authorities. Each district education authority
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has a discipline policy, including the positive
school policy, so zero tolerance to violence,
zero tolerance to sexual violence and anti-
bullying. It looks different for every school.
However, a case-by-case review of each
incident would warrant, | couldn’t generalize
whether sexual assault or abuse, if it were
verbal, physical, if they were five versus if
there were 15. There are so many unknown
factors in the question you’ve posed to me. |
apologize I’m not able to give you specificity
of what would be a standard.

| would hope that if the parents have an issue,
that they can approach the school team and that
the school team should review through
sensitive view, like through sensitive eyes, also
by separating the students of the incidences. So
if you have any incidences like, that I’m happy
to receive them privately so that I can act
according to what is necessary. Qujannamiik.

Chairman: Thank you, Deputy Minister
Hainnu. We appreciate that. The next person on
my list is Ms. Killiktee.

Ms. Killiktee (interpretation): Thank you, Ms.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) | want to start

with seven or eight follow-ups since we started
this morning, and I’ll start with Ms. Hunt.

As you stated when you were asked about the
health care card concerning the health care card
for newborns or a mother birthing down south.
(interpretation) I think I’ll be slow in Inuktitut.
We’ll ensure it’s translated properly into
English through our interpreters. The card, the
health care card when upon birth and in the
north maybe perhaps there are no problems, but
I would like to go to the response given on the
problems or lack thereof.

However, here at the Assembly | have often
raised this as a question, the problems
associated in the south when a mother gives
birth in the south on the paperwork that is

124




required and a form filled on place of birth and
so forth in the south, and none of the forms are
in Inuktitut, so problems often arise until they
get a card. Some cannot get any benefits after a
month or even a whole year, especially for
those who don’t have a wage income. That
affects their level of benefits until they get the
card when their child is six to eight months.
They aren’t able to include their child in the
benefits when the child has been born in the
south. There is a problem there. I would like to
get that as a question to you.

| just recently witnessed a child who is now
four or five months old. Forms have been filled
a number of times, but nothing coming forth
from the south to qualify for a card; and a child
being born in Ottawa, and the mother has to
continue to apply and having to pay 20 to 40
dollars and the fees vary.

There’s a problem here, and I’ve raised this
often. Any actions or development towards
this? That is the first question that 1’m asking
as there is a problem in this area, Ms. Hunt.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (Mr. Hickes): Thank you. Ms. Hunt.

Ms. Hunt (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman, (interpretation ends) and to the
member for the question. Thank you for your
comments around documentation and having
that available in Inuktitut. It’s something that |
will go back and have a conversation with our
team about, especially for our medical
travellers who are out of territory. That
obviously is very important. For an individual
who has a child — we’ll do out of territory first,
and then we can chat about in territory.

My assumption is that what’s you’re telling us
is that sometimes because it is not in Inuktitut
that the paperwork may not be filled out and
then submitted, so we want to a better job with
that and working with our partners to ensure
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that there’s other documentation that is in
Inuktitut and/or that are translators and staff in
facilities out of territory have the ability to meet
with individuals when they have had children
and support them to get the documentation
completed properly so that there’s no delays.

And same with in territory. When a child is
born they are eligible under the parent’s
medical number, including NIHB so that if
there is a need for medications or services, it
can be when I say “it” | mean the service or the
medication — can be supported for that child
under the parent’s health card number or NIHB
number. It sounds like maybe what you’re
describing is that it’s going longer than a 12-
month time frame, so if there are individual
cases, it would be very helpful to have that
information so that we can look into it, whether
it’s through the Office of Patient Relations or
through our medical insurance team.
Qujannamiik.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Killiktee.

Ms. Killiktee (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) | should have
added in there’s an issue and a problem that the
delay is not with your department in this area
that I’m going to mention as well, concerning
the health care card, a birth certificate, it’s with
the federal government. So I’m recommending
that you push to that, with the federal
government, because they’re not eligible for
family allowance until the birth certificate
along with the health care card is registered,
followed with the documents that they issue. So
that’s a recommendation for your help to
connect with federal government concerning
this.

And to carry on, Chairman, I’m okay? Because
| am finally starting to speak in English. |
thought | was, oh, maybe I’m doing it.
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My second follow-up is concerning what steps
are being looked is concerning (interpretation)
maybe I’ll speak Inuktitut. (interpretation ends)
It could be for Mr. Ellsworth or representative
for child and youth (interpretation) regarding
(interpretation ends) the lack of
communication.

(interpretation ends) I heard the Representative
for Children and Youth earlier that there’s a
lack of communication or delays in response to
having to go back and forth with the client or
with the youth. (interpretation) With the
correspondence going back and forth between
the department and your office, and possibly
not understanding one another and because of
that, because only because it’s important that
the representative, as stated that it was
important, and is it possible to have interpreters
or documents in Inuktitut? Or is that of a
concern to you what’s happening in that
situation? Thank you.

Chairman: To be clear, Ms. Killiktee, are you
directing that question as the Representative as
well as Family Services?

Ms. Killiktee: Both.

Chairman: That’s what | thought. I’ll start
with Mr. Ellsworth and then I will go to Ms.
Bates.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and
thank you for that question. I think it has a few
components. As I’ve heard through the
interpretation, one was the concern around the
delays in sharing of information with Ms.
Bates’ office, which resulted in delays of her
reviews of critical injuries and systemic issues.
I’m quite confident, and I’m proud to say that |
believe we’ve met all timelines required by her,
since the issuance of that summons. There have
been times where we’ve requested extensions
for operational reasons, and because we are
wanting to ensure that we give her the right
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information the first time, and certainly |
believe she will comment on it, but | do know
that we have taken proactive steps to be better
at sharing the information that she has
requested.

Then | heard about documents available
Inuktitut. For the public, we are in this process
of evolution when it comes to our front-facing
information. Through the work of our
communication plan, we are going to be
deploying several communications in Inuktitut,
Inuinnagtun, Qallunaattuit, en Francais, to
ensure that people are aware of the programs
that we offer at Family Services, and there are
many. For Wellness, there’s adoption services,
child welfare services, safety services. There’s
career development programming, many
programs available, many income assistance
programs, many poverty reduction programs.
And what we learned through the development
of the Ilagiitsiarniq strategic plan and through
feedback through our consultations is that we
haven’t historically done a good sure in
ensuring Nunavummiut know about what those
programs are and how they can access them.

So documentation will be available in all of
Nunavut’s languages. Currently | believe that
when we serve documents to Nunavummiut
that are court documents, they are translated.
The legal letters are translated, if I’m not
mistaken, and so certainly we know there’s
room for improvement and very soon you and
everyone here will start to see a lot of
information being put throughout various
mediums in the public, written, radio,
Facebook, social media, et cetera in all
languages that will help to ensure that
Nunavummiut are aware of the services they
can access at our department. Qujannamiik,
Iksivautaq.

Chairman: Thank you. And to Ms. Bates, |
know we’ve been focussing on the
communications with Family Services in your
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office, but I think this is an opportunity now to
kind of a whole-of-government approach,
again, using that term. As an example, last year
we were seated in here and there was a letter
outstanding from Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs for over a year,
which miraculously appeared the next morning.
And as we can see from the lack of
representation from the Department of
Executive and Intergovernmental Affairs today,
how serious of a nature the communication is.
So I know I’m concerned now. | would like to
get a more wholesome approach. Ms. Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and
thank you to the member for the question. In
general, requests from my office to varying
departments have been responded to in this
fiscal year in a very timely manner. Yes, it is
true, often departments if they need an
extension they will approach our office, let us
know they are having difficulty meeting the
deadline and request that extension, which is
often usually just a couple of weeks.

In terms of documentation, | just want to talk a
little bit about that, because one of the biggest
barriers or factors that impact us completing
reviews, looking at cases is the lack of
documentation. And it has proven to be a major
contributor to not being able to see what has
happened for a young person. So we will
request information, often full case files from
any department, and it’s very difficult often for
us to see what has happened for that young
person, how decisions were made, why those
decisions were made, because they’re often not
documented.

Documentation is one of those areas that |
cannot stress enough how important they are,
because they are really documenting what has
occurred, the transaction, the delivery of
services. They are also documenting the life of
a young person and their experience in a
system, right, whether it be the health system,
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the child welfare system, the education system.
And so that piece | think is one of the biggest
issues that I see is, that lack of comprehensive
documentation. And some departments do it
very, very well, but there’s always | always see
those kind of missing pieces where we can’t
quite follow the chain of events, which is really
problematic.

In terms of disclosure, we’ve also had problems
with, and again it’s not specific to one
department, necessarily, but often information
is located in varying places. So we make a
request and if there’s a young person, say from
a community who happens to be in Igaluit, we
won’t necessarily get the information from the
community when we request all of the
information. And | don’t think that’s
intentional, it’s just again how that information
IS being stored, where it’s being stored, having
good data management, if you will. I know the
privacy commissioner has talked a little bit
about that and he and | have had some
conversations about that.

But in terms of response to information
requests, | would say this fiscal year they have
been good. A few extensions, but that is to be
expected.

The second part, I do recall back in 2020 that
my office made a referral to the Language s
Commissioner about forms, particularly for the
Department of Family Services that they need
all their forms, all their affidavits needed to be
translated. So just as a follow-up to that. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Killiktee.

Ms. Killiktee (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman, and I would like to thank you for
that response and the improvement there is. I’'m
not sure how to word this properly, but Inuit
Qaujimajatugangit, Inuit traditional knowledge,
Inuit traditional knowledge has been mentioned
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since 1999, when Nunavut was created. And
from there, it was quite active and we heard
very good things about Inuit
Qaujimajatugangit. But today, | don’t know if
it’s the Third, Fourth or Fifth Assembly. And
from what | see, | see that Inuit traditional
knowledge and — please remind me if | am
wrong; Inuit Qaujimajatugangit is just being
paid lip service for quite a few years now. |
don’t know. There’s little bits of things going
on, but there hasn’t been any progression from
your knowledge as a government. The Inuit
language, and remind me if I’m wrong, but the
Inuktitut language is not as vibrant today as it
was. How is it helpful to your department, as a
government department what do you think
about implementing Inuit traditional
knowledge, because we’re just paying lip
service today. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and
thank you for that very direct question, Ms.
Killiktee. | appreciate your position with
respect to this matter. Often for many years, in
my experience, | worked at Maliiganik
Tukisiinakvik, and I heard this word tossed
around, ISB, Inuit Qaujimajatugangit in a
conceptual way. So we talk about it. Lip
service. My position with respect to this matter,
at least from my administration and | believe
my colleagues would share this position, is that
we have to live them. We have to live these
values until our work, in our daily lives. It’s not
just about using words like Tunnganarniq or
Inuugatigiittiarnig; we have to be that way as
professionals. And those people who are on the
other side of the services that we are providing
they must feel that we are embracing values of
Inuit Qaujimajatugangit.

So while | agree for many years, and it’s
probably existent elsewhere, | would like to say
that we at Family Services and the folks around
this table and for sure at Family Services have
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sent the directive that we embrace these values.
It’s built into all of our policies. We have
policy advisors who are Inuit that ensure that it
is built from the framework of not only the
policy itself, but the practical output of the
work that’s intended to be done, recognizing
the significant import of not just being lip
service or using catch phrases to advance our
priorities, but to actually embrace them and to
ensure practical application of Inuit societal
values in everything that we do.

Mr. Chair, | don’t know if any of my
colleagues want to supplement that response,
but I hear you loud and clear, Ms. Killiktee and
other members, and I’m committed to ensuring
that we are embracing these values in a very
meaningful way. Qujannamiik, Iksivautag.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Killiktee.

Ms. Killiktee (interpretation): Sometimes |
speak for quite some length of time. I speak for
a long time so my clock is running out. This
will be my last question. | would like to ask a
question to the Department of Family Services.
It’s in regards to adoption services. It states
here that they have renewed the everyday
payments so the communities will be impacted
for the communities. At this time they pay $58
to $65. Those are the changes for foster
parents’ payment so that the foster parents can
receive better pay so that they can provide
services to the child that they are fostering. It
states here at the bottom:

“We recognize that we do have bigger work to
do to make sure this goes ahead and to have a
comprehensive work plan for the foster
parents.”

With that, looking at that, what should we
expect from that, and when, in the regions
Kivallig, Kitikmeot and Qikigtaaluk, when
should we expect and what status it is at at this
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time? | would like to get that clarification, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ellsworth.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and
thank you for the question. The department
facilitates foster care services where children
are unable to stay in their original home. We
recognize the need to improve services for
foster parents in consideration of some of the
findings of Ms. Bates’ office, and the Office of
the Auditor General. The first step was
assessing whether or not the per diem rates
available to foster parents was adequate in the
circumstance, and we felt that it wasn’t. Those
rates were increased as of March 31, 2024.
There’s a plan to re-assess that in the near
future again.

As | mentioned in my opening statements, there
are about 297 individual foster placements in
Nunavut. Some of those foster placements are
with extended families and some are with non-
family members. We are currently actively
recruiting additional foster families to ensure
that we can maintain children at least within
their communities, and if not within Nunavut,
which has proven a challenge. There’s some
stigma that comes with that responsibility.
Oftentimes the parents of the children who
need to be fostered become aggressive towards
foster families, and so there’s a lot of work to
do to remove the stigma from being a foster
parent to ensure that they have good training
when they are non-Inuit, when they are
fostering Inuit children. Ultra competence
training. And then to ensure that cultural
workers and family resource workers have the
tools to support foster parents and foster
children.

| know your question was | think specific to the
rates, but we will be re-assessing those rates
moving forward, Mr. Chair. And certainly
given that this is a televised hearing, | believe
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our last hearing | plead that if there are
individuals who are willing to assume that very
important role within our communities, I
encourage you to get in touch with a
community social services office and certainly
we would be more than happy to train and
equip you to assist us in providing services to
children and Nunavummiut who need foster
care. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Next name | have on
my list, Ms. Nutarak.

Ms. Nutarak (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I would like to direct my question to
Ms. Bates.

(interpretation ends) In your opening message
on page of your 2023-2024 annual report you
note that “work is still underway to create a
comprehensive Child Rights teaching guide.”
Can you elaborate further on what specific
topics does teaching resources will cover, who
will be delivering the program, and whether it
will be school based, used in youth centres, or
in other areas. Thank you, Mr. Speaker.

Chairman: Thank you. Sorry, was that directed
to Ms. Bates?

Ms. Nutarak: Ms. Bates.

Ms. Bates: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and
thank you for the question. The Child Rights
teaching guide that we have basically
completed, it got finalized about a month ago
for K to grade 4, | want to say. And so it is
completely finalized, completely translated in
all four languages. Our plan is to work with the
Department of Education, that was always the
initial plan to then provide it to the Department
of Education so that they can implement it
hopefully as part of their curriculum. But it
basically covers a wide range of what child
rights mean. What it means to have rights, what
it means that you’re entitled to have health
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care, clean drinking water, all of those things,
and right to protection. And it does it in a way
again so that it’s geared to the age group.

Again, we haven’t at this point, just because we
finalized it we haven’t done the roll-out piece
of it yet, so | can’t speak to that at this moment
in time that’s the next phase of our work, so
we’ve just started with education to start that
process but it’s quite comprehensive. It’s a very
exciting project. | can tell that you my
counterparts across Canada have asked to get
copies of it so that they can distribute it. They
haven’t seen it, but they are assuming that it’s a
great piece of work and | believe that it is a
great piece of work.

So that’s the rollout piece. And now we’re just
working on drafting the grade 5 to, | don’t
know what the upper grade is, but now we’re
working on that piece of it.

But the plan always has been for it to go into
the education system, hopefully, and again, |
haven’t really thought about what the other
possibilities might be, but I think that truly |
think it’s a great opportunity for us to kind of
spread out the resource guide. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Nutarak.

Ms. Nutarak (interpretation): Thank you.
Thank you Ms. Bates and Mr. Chairman. That’s
very interesting and good to hear about this
program. | would like to direct my question to
the Department of Education in regards to
education program for children. Would you be
using it as your instructional document or
curriculum? Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Hainnu.
Ms. Hainnu (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.

Chairman. Thank you, Member, for your
question. All the curriculum are geared towards
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the learning ability of the children, and to
provide them information and to voice their
concerns. So we will be utilizing them at the
schools. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Nutarak.

Ms. Nutarak (interpretation): Thank you. I will
be asking questions. Many students, especially
when they are turning into teenagers and they
start dropping out of the school, as they age the
teenagers starting from grade 7 to grade 12.
Some students quit school because they don’t
get support from the teacher or what the
reasoning or with the classroom support or with
being bullied by other students. Not all the
students quit school because of bullying. And
when they have conflict with the teachers, they
quit school. Even the parents sometimes tried to
write letters about it, about the teachers to the
classroom assistants and the staff at the school
are protected. | believe, according to my
understanding that is the support system
literally for the children. The staff is more
protected than the children that are going to
school. Even the parents, when they try to
complain, nobody listened to them.

It’s very sad to see young people quitting
school, becoming more in numbers. They are
increasing, and we would like to see them
graduate. | know that it’s very difficult to live
nowadays and it’s really under hardship
nowadays.

My question is directed to Ms. Bates in regards
to the parents. Even if the parents have done
well and if there’s no progress with their
concern, could they approach your office as
Representative of Children and Youth? Would
you be able to take on their case and represent
them in that case. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Bates.
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Ms. Bates: Thank you for the question, Mr.
Chairman. So I just want to make sure |
understand. A young person who is being
bullied at school would we take on a case of
that nature. So the quick answer there is yes.
The purpose of our office is to assess, so we
review what the Department of Education
would do in relation to that, and we would
advocate on behalf of that young person after
talking with them, talking with their parent,
about what they wanted to see happen, what
needs to happen. That’s where we step in, and
we take a look at what did or did not happen to
address that situation. So that’s where we enter
into the picture.

Really, and it’s interesting, because the whole
issue of bullying, you hear it, you hear about it,
but as you can see in the status section there’s
no, | don’t know of anybody who’s actually
tracking it. And 1I’m not sure how you would
track it, in some ways. But | think that it’s a
very serious issue. | wholeheartedly agree with
you that it can lead to very serious young
people leaving school. We’ve even seen young
people killing themselves as a result of being
bullied. So I think it’s an area that really needs
to be looked at really extensively.

| think there needs to be an approach where,
similar to abuse, we have to acknowledge that
it’s going on and we need to find a way to
address it and support young people so it’s
restorative, so we’re all working together to
say, hey, that’s not acceptable behaviour but
how do we also address it. Because | think what
is happening is the end result is young people
are leaving to get away. And that’s not
addressing anything. It’s not changing
anything.

So to answer your question, yes, we would
become involved, but our focus would be on
what the services around that young person are
doing to address the situation. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.
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Chairman: Ms. Nutarak.

Ms. Nutarak (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Thank you Ms. Bates. (interpretation
ends) It’s not a student-to-student bullying,
sometimes teachers or student support teachers
or staff in the school are bullying students. And
even if a parent has been trying to advocate for
their children through letters and meeting with
the principals and nothing is being done. My
question is are you able to advocate for the
child then if nothing has been done, if the
parent has reached all the resources.

(interpretation) | have question to Ms. Hainnu.
I’m sure you witness the things that are
happening or hear of the things that are
happening, and | was talking about the teachers
and support workers, and they seem to have
more support than the students and the child
ends up quitting because of the lack of support
for the child. Even though the parents try to do
something about it, but their voices are never
heard. What else can the parents do to get
something done about the matter? Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Hainnu.

Ms. Hainnu (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman, and thank you for asking those good
questions. We were questioned last year, about
a year ago, about why so many students are
quitting and we don’t report about it, although
we keep records of them. They quit for all sorts
of reasons, and after quitting, they’re able to
come back if they want to.

In regards to your question, if a student is
mistreated by a teacher or support worker, we
have in place if the person is a government
employee, they do have support from the union.
All the teachers are part of the Nunavut
Teachers Association. So the teachers have that
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support, and they also have the Nunavut
Employees Union behind them.

In Education, we want the students to have a
good learning place, and if they make
complaints about teachers, there is a place
where they can go, which is the superintendent
of education where they can bring up the
matter. And also I’ll be able to give direction to
all the schools, a list of where the students can
be turned to for help.

We don’t want them to quit. We want them to
keep going, and sometimes there are conflicts
between students and teachers, and we’re
always looking for ways to keep them in school
because we want them to complete their
education because they are just as important.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Nutarak.

Ms. Nutarak (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman, and thank you, Ms. Hainnu, for
saying that. That’s good to hear, and | will want
my constituents to see that.

I would like more notice, because there are
some teachers who have been teaching in the
community for a long time, like 15 years, and
there should be a review to make sure that they
are teaching properly. Because some teachers,
they keep doing the same thing over and over
again, and we get concerned if the students are
getting proper education. So | believe reviews
should be more important, and then a lot of
times we say that was a good teacher but she’s
gone already, and that teacher is not so good
and he’s still there. So some teachers spend
many years in some communities, and it’s
completely worrisome where these teachers
have been teaching for many years, or we get
concerned if they are too comfortable in their
position and don’t really do much and they’re
not from Nunavut. We want our students to
have good education, but then they end up not
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wanting to go to the school, and we have it try
and decide what to do with our child when they
don’t want to have anything to do with the
school anymore, and we have to find ways to
get them interested in going to school again.
We always have to do brain storming to see
how we can get them to enjoy school.

Do you make considerations like that for
teachers who have been in the same community
for many years? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Hainnu.

Ms. Hainnu (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman, and thank you to the MLA for
asking those questions. First of all, I have to
say yes, we are concerned about them. Every
year we worry about all the teachers and the
students, and the principal does the assessment
and annual performance evaluation, or
sometimes it’s referred to as professional
development. So we thought that the process
was too weak, and the way Department of
Education works, so we decided that the
directors of the different school operations,
they do too much paperwork already, and they
have too much paperwork to do with their jobs.

And because of that, last year when we were
requesting money from the House, we
requested to create a position that can be a
human resource person. And so we created a
position to do that, so that the directors of the
school operations will have a place where they
can look to. They would also deal with salaries
and other things that have to do with the
directors of education, so that all of our
students can read and write and do math and
have a bilingual education and do better in
schools. So that’s what we’re trying to do to.

We’ve also created a Made-in-Nunavut
curriculum, and from the start of school to the
end of school we will use Inuktitut and English
and other languages, and each student’s
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progress will be looked at properly. And so
we’ve created three PYs. We’re very grateful to
that person who is doing more of the paperwork
that the directors had to do, and the directors
can concentrate more on making sure the
school is run properly instead of just doing
paperwork. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Ms. Nutarak.

Ms. Nutarak (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman and thank you, Ms. Hainnu, for
telling us the good news. I’m sure not all of the
long-serving teachers in the same community
are misbehaving. | know some of them do real
good work in teaching our children and taking
care of our children in the schools. | don’t want
to say they are all bad.

Let me move on to something else. I’m not sure
which person can answer this, about the
Umingmak society. It’s only now in lqgaluit.
Avre there any plans to spread that out to the
communities. That’s the Umingmak group.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Mr. Ellsworth,
please.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Mr.
Chair, we’ve seen the successes that have been
demonstrated by our partnerships with
Umingmak, and just for the benefit of this
committee, since April 1, 2024 there has been
374 clinic encounters and case reviews
undertaken by that group of people, 21 acute
sexual assault examination and kits performed,
18 physical assault assessments, 237 consult
requests, 22 other assessments. We have seen
the benefit of this program and we are currently
undertaking or in discussion with their
leadership to assess the feasibility of expanding
their footprint in Nunavut. Qujannamiik,
Iksivautaq.
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Chairman: Thank you. Before | go to the next
name on my list I’m going to recognize the
clock and we’ll adjourn for the day, returning at
9 a.m. tomorrow morning. Thank you,
everyone.

>>Committee adjourned at 16:58
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